
 
 

v1 2015 

AGENDA 
 

Meeting Fire, Resilience and Emergency 
Planning Committee 

Date Thursday 23 May 2019 

Time 2.00 pm 

Place Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 
Walk, London, SE1 2AA 

Copies of the reports and any attachments may be found at  
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/fire-resilience-emergency-planning-
committee 
 
Most meetings of the London Assembly and its Committees are webcast live at 
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts where you can also view past 
meetings. 
 
Members of the Committee 
Andrew Dismore AM (Chair) 
Susan Hall AM (Deputy Chairman) 
Gareth Bacon AM 

Leonie Cooper AM 
Florence Eshalomi AM 
David Kurten AM 

 

A meeting of the Committee has been called by the Chairman of the Committee to deal with the 

business listed below.  

Ed Williams, Executive Director of Secretariat 
Wednesday 15 May 2019 

 
Further Information 
If you have questions, would like further information about the meeting or require special facilities please 
contact: Jonathan Baker, Committee Officer, Tel: 020 7084 2825; Email: jonathan.baker@london.gov.uk  
For media enquiries please contact Giles Broadbent; Communications Officer,  
Telephone: 020 7983 4064; Email: giles.broadbent@london.gov.uk.   
If you have any questions about individual items please contact the author whose details are at the end of the 
report.  
 
This meeting will be open to the public, except for where exempt information is being discussed as noted on 
the agenda.  A guide for the press and public on attending and reporting meetings of local government bodies, 
including the use of film, photography, social media and other means is available at 
www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf.  
 
There is access for disabled people, and induction loops are available.  There is limited underground parking for 
orange and blue badge holders, which will be allocated on a first-come first-served basis.  Please contact 
Facilities Management on 020 7983 4750 in advance if you require a parking space or further information. 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/fire-resilience-emergency-planning-committee
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/fire-resilience-emergency-planning-committee
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts
mailto:giles.broadbent@london.gov.uk
http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf


 

 
Certificate Number: FS 80233 

If you, or someone you know, needs a copy of the agenda, minutes or reports 
in large print or Braille, audio, or in another language, then please call us on 
020 7983 4100 or email assembly.translations@london.gov.uk.   
 

 
 

mailto:assembly.translations@london.gov.uk


 

3 
 

Agenda 
Fire, Resilience and Emergency Planning Committee 
Thursday 23 May 2019 
 
 

1 Apologies for Absence and Chair's Announcements  
 
 

2 Declarations of Interests (Pages 1 - 4) 

 
 The Committee is recommended to: 

 

(a) Note the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, as disclosable pecuniary interests;  

 

(b)  Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests 

in specific items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the 

Member(s) regarding withdrawal following such declaration(s); and  

 

(c)  Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be 

relevant (including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received 

which are not at the time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register 

of gifts and hospitality, and noting also the advice from the GLA’s 

Monitoring Officer set out at Agenda Item 2) and to note any necessary 

action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s). 
 
 

3 Membership of the Committee  
 
 The Committee is recommended to note the membership and chairing arrangements 

for the Committee, as agreed by the London Assembly at its Annual Meeting on 2 
May 2019. 
 
Andrew Dismore AM (Chair) 
Susan Hall AM (Deputy Chairman) 
Gareth Bacon AM 
Léonie Cooper AM 
Florence Eshalomi AM 
David Kurten AM 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

4 
 

4 Terms of Reference  
 
 The Committee is recommended to note its terms of reference, which were agreed 

by the Annual Meeting of the London Assembly at its meeting on 2 May 2019, as 
follows: 
 

1. To review and make a report or recommendation to the Mayor on any draft 
document or revision given to the Assembly by the London Fire Commissioner 
which is prepared and published by the London Fire Commissioner in 
accordance with the Fire and Rescue National Framework and which:  
 
(a) Sets out the Commissioner’s priorities and objectives, for the period 

covered by the document, in connection with the discharge of the 
Commissioner’s functions, or  

(b) Contains a statement of the way in which the Commissioner has had 
regard, in the period covered by the document, to the Framework and to 
any document within paragraph (a) prepared by the Commissioner for 
that period. 

  
2. To keep under review the exercise of the functions of the London Fire 

Commissioner.  
 

3. To investigate, and prepare reports, as necessary, about:  

 Any actions and decisions of the Mayor and/or Deputy Mayor for Fire in 
relation to the GLA’s fire duties and responsibilities, as set out in the 
Policing and Crime Act 2017; • Any actions and decisions of the London 
Fire Commissioner;  
 

 Any actions and decisions of an officer of the London Fire Commissioner;  
 

 Matters relating to the functions of the London Fire Commissioner;  
 

 Matters in relation to which the functions of the London Fire 
Commissioner are exercisable; and  

 

 Any other matters which the Assembly considers to be of importance to 
fire and rescue services in Greater London.  

 
4. To submit proposals to the Mayor/London Fire Commissioner in relation to 

fire and emergency matters in London as necessary.  
 

5. To investigate, and prepare reports, as necessary, about the exercise of the 
Mayor’s statutory resilience responsibilities and activities.  
 

6. To hold confirmation hearings in respect of the Mayor’s proposed candidate 
for the London Fire Commissioner and Deputy Mayor for Fire.  

 
[Note: the Committee functions must be exercised with a view to supporting the 
effective exercise of the functions of the London Fire Commissioner]. 
 
 
 



 

5 
 

5 Standing Delegation  
 
 The Committee is recommended to note the following standing delegation, as 

agreed by the London Assembly at its Annual Meeting on 2 May 2019: 

 
At its Annual Meeting on 1 May 2013, the Assembly agreed to delegate a general 
authority to Chairs of all ordinary committees and sub-committees to respond on 
the relevant committee or sub-committee’s behalf, following consultation with the 
lead Members of the party Groups on the committee or sub-committee, where it is 
consulted on issues by organisations and there is insufficient time to consider the 
consultation at a committee meeting. 
 
 

6 Minutes (Pages 5 - 40) 

 
 The Committee is recommended to confirm the minutes of the meeting of the Fire, 

Resilience and Emergency Planning Committee held on 28 March 2019 to be signed 
by the Chairman as a correct record.  
 

 The appendix to the minutes set out on pages 9 to 40 is attached for Members and officers only 
but is available from the following area of the GLA’s website: 
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-committees/fire-
resilience-emergency-planning 
 
 

7 Summary List of Actions (Pages 41 - 46) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact:  Jonathan Baker; jonathan.baker@london.gov.uk; 020 7084 2825 
 
The Committee is recommended to note the completed and outstanding actions 

arising from previous meetings of the Committee. 
 
 

8 London Safety Plan (Pages 47 - 50) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Janette Roker; janette.roker@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 6562 
 
The Committee is recommended to: 
 
(a) Agree the areas for consideration as set out in paragraph 4.1 of the report. 

 
(b) Note the report as background to the question and answer session with the 

Deputy Mayor for Fire and Resilience and the London Fire Commissioner on 
the London Safety Plan and notes the subsequent discussion. 

 
(c) Delegate authority to the Chair, in consultation with party Group Lead 

Members, to agree any output from the meeting. 
 

https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=424
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=424
mailto:jonathan.baker@london.gov.uk
mailto:Janette.roker@london.gov.uk


 

6 
 

 

9 Reserves Strategy and Medium Term Financial Plan for the London Fire 
Commissioner (Pages 51 - 74) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Jonathan Baker; jonathan.baker@london.gov.uk; 020 7084 2825 
 
The Committee is recommended to: 
 

(a) Review the London Fire Commissioner’s Reserves Strategy and Medium Term 

Financial Plan. 

 

(b) Make a report or recommendation(s) to the Mayor on the Reserves Strategy 

and Medium Term Financial Plan, in accordance with Section 327I of the 

Policing and Crime Act 2017. 
 
 

10 Fire, Resilience and Emergency Planning Committee Work Programme 
(Pages 75 - 76) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact:  Janette Roker; janette.roker@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 6562 
 
The Committee is recommended to note the Fire, Resilience and Emergency Planning 

Committee work programme. 

 
 
 

11 Date of Next Meeting  
 
 The next meeting of the Committee is scheduled for 18 July 2019 at 2.30pm in the Chamber, 

City Hall. 

 
 
 

12 Any Other Business the Chair Considers Urgent  
 
 
 

mailto:jonathan.baker@london.gov.uk
mailto:janette.roker@london.gov.uk


 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk  v2/2018 

 

Subject: Declarations of Interests 
 

Report to: Fire, Resilience and Emergency Planning Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 23 May 2019 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 
 
 
1. Summary  

 
1.1 This report sets out details of offices held by Assembly Members for noting as disclosable pecuniary 

interests and requires additional relevant declarations relating to disclosable pecuniary interests, and 

gifts and hospitality to be made. 

 
 
2. Recommendations  
 

2.1 That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table below, be noted 

as disclosable pecuniary interests1; 

2.2 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests in specific 

items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the Member(s) regarding 

withdrawal following such declaration(s) be noted; and 

2.3 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be relevant 

(including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received which are not at the 

time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register of gifts and hospitality, and 

noting also the advice from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer set out at below) and any 

necessary action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s) be noted. 

 
3. Issues for Consideration  
 
3.1 Relevant offices held by Assembly Members are listed in the table overleaf: 

  

                                                 
1 The Monitoring Officer advises that: Paragraph 10 of the Code of Conduct will only preclude a Member from 
participating in any matter to be considered or being considered at, for example, a meeting of the Assembly, 
where the Member has a direct Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in that particular matter. The effect of this is 
that the ‘matter to be considered, or being considered’ must be about the Member’s interest. So, by way of 
example, if an Assembly Member is also a councillor of London Borough X, that Assembly Member will be 
precluded from participating in an Assembly meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about the 
Member’s role / employment as a councillor of London Borough X; the Member will not be precluded from 
participating in a meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about an activity or decision of London 
Borough X. 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



        

Member Interest 

Tony Arbour AM  

Jennette Arnold OBE AM European Committee of the Regions  

Gareth Bacon AM Member, LB Bexley 

Shaun Bailey AM  

Sian Berry AM Member, LB Camden 

Andrew Boff AM Congress of Local and Regional Authorities (Council of 
Europe) 

Leonie Cooper AM Member, LB Wandsworth 

Tom Copley AM Member, LB Lewisham 

Unmesh Desai AM  

Tony Devenish AM Member, City of Westminster 

Andrew Dismore AM  

Len Duvall AM  

Florence Eshalomi AM  

Nicky Gavron AM  

Susan Hall AM Member, LB Harrow 

David Kurten AM  

Joanne McCartney AM Deputy Mayor 

Steve O’Connell AM Member, LB Croydon  

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM  

Keith Prince AM Alternate Member, European Committee of the Regions 

Caroline Russell AM Member, LB Islington 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM  

Navin Shah AM  

Fiona Twycross AM Deputy Mayor for Fire and Resilience; Chair of the London 
Local Resilience Forum 

Peter Whittle AM  
 

[Note: LB - London Borough] 
 

3.2 Paragraph 10 of the GLA’s Code of Conduct, which reflects the relevant provisions of the Localism 

Act 2011, provides that:  
 

- where an Assembly Member has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be considered 
or being considered or at  

 

(i) a meeting of the Assembly and any of its committees or sub-committees; or  
 

(ii) any formal meeting held by the Mayor in connection with the exercise of the Authority’s 
functions  

 

- they must disclose that interest to the meeting (or, if it is a sensitive interest, disclose the fact 
that they have a sensitive interest to the meeting); and  

 

- must not (i) participate, or participate any further, in any discussion of the matter at the 
meeting; or (ii) participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at the meeting 

 

UNLESS 
 

- they have obtained a dispensation from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer (in accordance with 
section 2 of the Procedure for registration and declarations of interests, gifts and hospitality – 
Appendix 5 to the Code).    

 

3.3 Failure to comply with the above requirements, without reasonable excuse, is a criminal offence; as is 

knowingly or recklessly providing information about your interests that is false or misleading. 

Page 2



        

3.4 In addition, the Monitoring Officer has advised Assembly Members to continue to apply the test that 

was previously applied to help determine whether a pecuniary / prejudicial interest was arising - 

namely, that Members rely on a reasonable estimation of whether a member of the public, with 

knowledge of the relevant facts, could, with justification, regard the matter as so significant that it 

would be likely to prejudice the Member’s judgement of the public interest.  

3.5 Members should then exercise their judgement as to whether or not, in view of their interests and 

the interests of others close to them, they should participate in any given discussions and/or 

decisions business of within and by the GLA. It remains the responsibility of individual Members to 

make further declarations about their actual or apparent interests at formal meetings noting also 

that a Member’s failure to disclose relevant interest(s) has become a potential criminal offence. 

3.6 Members are also required, where considering a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person 

from whom they have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25 within the 

previous three years or from the date of election to the London Assembly, whichever is the later, to 

disclose the existence and nature of that interest at any meeting of the Authority which they attend 

at which that business is considered.  

3.7 The obligation to declare any gift or hospitality at a meeting is discharged, subject to the proviso set 

out below, by registering gifts and hospitality received on the Authority’s on-line database. The on-

line database may be viewed here:  

https://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/gifts-and-hospitality.  

3.8 If any gift or hospitality received by a Member is not set out on the on-line database at the time of 

the meeting, and under consideration is a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person from 

whom a Member has received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25, Members 

are asked to disclose these at the meeting, either at the declarations of interest agenda item or when 

the interest becomes apparent.  

3.9 It is for Members to decide, in light of the particular circumstances, whether their receipt of a gift or 

hospitality, could, on a reasonable estimation of a member of the public with knowledge of the 

relevant facts, with justification, be regarded as so significant that it would be likely to prejudice the 

Member’s judgement of the public interest. Where receipt of a gift or hospitality could be so 

regarded, the Member must exercise their judgement as to whether or not, they should participate in 

any given discussions and/or decisions business of within and by the GLA. 

 

4. Legal Implications 
 

4.1 The legal implications are as set out in the body of this report. 

 
5. Financial Implications 
 

5.1 There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

Contact Officer: Jonathan Baker, Committee Officer 

Telephone: 020 7084 2825 

E-mail: jonathan.baker@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 3

https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/governance-and-spending/good-governance/gifts-and-hospitality


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



                                                                      

 

 
 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

MINUTES 
 

Meeting: Fire, Resilience and Emergency 
Planning Committee 

Date: Thursday 28 March 2019 
Time: 2.00 pm 
Place: Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 

Walk, London, SE1 2AA 
 
Copies of the minutes may be found at:  
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/fire-resilience-emergency-planning-
committee 
 
Present: 
 
Susan Hall AM (Chairman) 
Andrew Dismore AM (Deputy Chair) 
Gareth Bacon AM 
Leonie Cooper AM 
David Kurten AM 
 
 

1   Apologies for Absence and Chairman's Announcements (Item 1) 

 
1.1 Apologies for absence were received from Florence Eshalomi AM.  

 
 
2   Declarations of Interests (Item 2) 

 

2.1 Resolved: 

 

That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, be noted as disclosable pecuniary interests. 

 
 
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 6

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/fire-resilience-emergency-planning-committee
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/fire-resilience-emergency-planning-committee


Greater London Authority 
Fire, Resilience and Emergency Planning Committee 

Thursday 28 March 2019 

 

 
 

 
3   Minutes (Item 3) 

 

3.1 Resolved: 

 

That the minutes of the Fire, Resilience and Emergency Planning Committee 

meeting held on 31 January 2019 be signed by the Chairman as a correct record.  

 
 
4   Summary List of Actions (Item 4) 

 
4.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 
4.2 Resolved:  
 

That the completed and outstanding actions arising from previous meetings of the 
Committee be noted.  

 
 
5   Emergency Services Collaboration (Item 5) 

 
5.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat as background to 

putting questions to the following invited guests on emergency services collaboration: 

 Kevin Canavan, Head of Collaboration, London Ambulance Service; 

 Deputy Assistant Commissioner Matthew Twist, Transformation Directorate, 

Metropolitan Police Service; 

 David Shek, Regional Secretary – London, Fire Brigades Union;  

 Susan Ellison-Bunce, Assistant Director Strategy and Risk, London Fire Brigade (LFB); 

 Richard Mills, Assistant Commissioner – Operational Policy and Assurance, LFB; 

 Cllr John Robinson, Chairman of Durham and Darlington Fire Authority and 

Emergency Services Collaboration Working Group; and 

 Sarah Nattrass, Assistant Chief Fire Officer, Durham and Darlington Fire Authority. 

 
5.2 The Chairman congratulated Richard Mills on his recent appointment to Deputy 

Commissioner and Director for Safety and Assurance, LFB.  
 

5.3 A transcript of the discussion is attached at Appendix 1.  
 

5.4 During the course of the discussion the Committee requested that the Assistant 
Commissioner, Operational Policy and Assurance, LFB, provide further information on details 
of operational learning that has been implemented following evidence that different control 
rooms responded to calls from the Grenfell Tower Fire, rather than calls being directed 
straight to the LFB Control Room.   

Page 6



Greater London Authority 
Fire, Resilience and Emergency Planning Committee 

Thursday 28 March 2019 

 

 
 

 
5.5 At the end of the discussion the Chairman thanked the guests for their attendance and 

helpful contributions. 
 

5.6 Resolved: 

(a) That the report and answers given at the meeting be noted; and 

(b) That authority be delegated to the Chairman, in consultation with party 

Group Lead Members, to agree any output from the discussion. 

 
 
6   Fire, Resilience and Emergency Planning Committee Work Programme 

(Item 6) 

 
6.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

6.2 Resolved: 

(a) That the summary of work completed during the 2018/19 Assembly year, be 

noted; 

(b) That the provisional schedule of meetings for the 2019/20 Assembly year, 

which is subject to agreement at the Annual Meeting of the London 

Assembly on 2 May 2019, be noted; and 

(c) That in relation to urgent matters only, a general delegation of authority in 

respect of the Committee’s powers and functions (apart from those defined 

as ‘special scrutiny functions’ as outlined in the GLA Act 1999, and GLA 

Standing Order 10.1(G)) to the Chairman of the Committee, in consultation 

with the party Group Lead Members of the Committee, from the close of this 

meeting until the next meeting of the Committee, provisionally on 23 May 

2019, subject to agreement at the Annual Meeting of the London Assembly 

on 2 May 2019, be agreed.  

 
 
7   Date of Next Meeting (Item 7) 

 
7.1 The next meeting of the Committee was scheduled for 23 May 2019 at 2.00pm in the 

Chamber, City Hall, subject to confirmation of the London Assembly’s calendar of meetings 
at the Annual meeting of the London Assembly on 2 May 2019. 

 
 
 
 

Page 7



Greater London Authority 
Fire, Resilience and Emergency Planning Committee 

Thursday 28 March 2019 

 

 
 

8   Any Other Business the Chairman Considers Urgent (Item 8) 

 
8.1 There was no business the Chairman considered urgent.  

 
 
9   Close of Meeting  

 
9.1       The meeting ended at 3.58pm. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
    

Chairman  Date 
 
Contact Officer: Jonathan Baker, Committee Officer, Tel: 020 7084 2825;  

Email: jonathan.baker@london.gov.uk 
 

Page 8



 

 

Appendix 1 
 

London Assembly Fire, Resilience and Emergency Planning Committee  
28 March 2019 

 
Transcript of Item 5 – Emergency Services Collaboration 

 

Susan Hall (Chairman):  This brings us to today’s main item, the discussion with invited guests from the 

emergency services on collaboration in London.  I would like to welcome our guests to start with.  We have 

Kevin Canavan, Head of Collaboration, London Ambulance Service (LAS).  Deputy Assistant Commissioner 

(DAC) Matthew Twist, Transformation Directorate, Metropolitan Police Service (MPS).  David Shek, Regional 

Secretary, London, Fire Brigades Union (FBU).  Susan Ellison-Bunce, Assistant Director, Strategy and Risk, 

London Fire Brigade (LFB) and Richard Mills.  Congratulations, Richard, on your wonderful new position, but in 

the meantime I still have to call you the Assistant Commissioner for Operational Policy and Assurance, LFB.  

Thank you so much to our guests from Durham.  I am sorry you had such a terrible journey here but you are 

here and we are very grateful.  We have Councillor John Robinson, Chairman of Durham and Darlington Fire 

Authority and Emergency Services Collaboration Working Group, and Sarah Nattrass, Assistant Chief Fire 

Officer, Durham and Darlington Fire Authority.  Welcome, all.  We are all going to ask various questions.  We 

will direct most of them to specific people but if you want to say something else then please just indicate.  I 

will start off, and this is to all of you.  What does emergency services collaboration mean to you?  Shall I start 

with Kevin? 

 

Kevin Canavan (Head of Collaboration, London Ambulance Service):  We have always collaborated as 

the emergency services, predominantly in the operational arena.  All three services have been in existence for 

some time now and collaboration has happened to a greater or lesser extent.  The statutory duty introduced in 

2017 was a timely reminder and prompted the services into formalising arrangements regarding collaboration.  

We formalised arrangements certainly here in London and I know colleagues across the country have.  We have 

established a London Blue Light Collaboration Team that was set up at the behest of the three Chiefs at that 

time to look into areas where collaboration may add value and, as per the statutory duty, seek out efficiency 

and effectiveness.  For me, those are the two watchwords that collaboration means for the three services, 

efficiency and effectiveness.   

 

DAC Matthew Twist (Transformation Directorate, Metropolitan Police Service):  For me, it is about 

how we can work together to improve service to the public of London, principally.  Yes, the statutory duty, as 

Kevin said, was helpful in terms of placing that at the forefront of our future thinking, but particularly in 

London, events that we have seen over the last couple of decades, if not longer, have driven a lot of 

collaboration and joint working at an operational level.  In many areas I would say that we are leading in the 

United Kingdom (UK) in terms of how we operationally can work together, driven by events, principally.  For 

me, the collaboration looking forward, the work that is ongoing now, the work that we have been doing as part 

of the Blue Light Collaboration Group and as part of our joint collaborative contact and response project is now 

around how we can take that further and how we can improve our services to the public.   

 

David Shek (Regional Secretary for London, Fire Brigades Union):  We have no problem working on 

incidents on the fire ground with the different services but I do want to make clear we are opposed to any type 

of merging or turning out to shouts together.  This is because we do believe the services should be kept 

separately.  While we have a lot of respect for our colleagues like the police, it is our belief that the services 

should be kept totally separate.  We are fire and rescue.  They are law enforcement.   

 

Susan Hall (Chairman):  OK.  You want it to be kept separately despite what -- 

Page 9



 

 

 

David Shek (Regional Secretary for London, Fire Brigades Union):  Yes, for turning out to shouts and 

things like that.  On backroom stuff, sharing buildings and the like, we do have cases where we do share 

buildings where we are not seen together turning out to shouts.  We are less opposed to that, but in general 

the services should be separate.   

 

Susan Hall (Chairman):  OK.  Perhaps we will explore that with you later because some of us have different 

views.  That will be interesting.   

 

Susan Ellison-Bunce (Assistant Director, Strategy and Risk, London Fire Brigade):  I would echo our 

colleagues in the other emergency services in London.  It is primarily, for us, around improving outcomes for 

the public, improving public safety and looking to improve our efficiency as well wherever we can.  We do need 

to look at strategic alignments and that is something we are doing through the governance arrangements that 

Matt [Twist] has already alluded to, but primarily this is about improving the offer to the public.   

 

Richard Mills (Assistant Commissioner, Operational Policy and Assurance, London Fire Brigade):  I 

would fully concur with everything that has been said by our blue light colleagues and Susan [Ellison-Bunce] in 

relation to providing the best possible service to the public through collaboration.  It is not only efficiency and 

effectiveness, it is how we operate both at the front of house and back of house, dare I say, in relation to 

improving the training and education, the contact that we have with a broad range of people and the speed at 

which, through collaboration, we can provide a better service both in our prevention activities but also in our 

response.  Let us not lose sight of the fact that the primary purpose of blue light collaboration is to save lives 

and everything that we do within collaboration, whether it is front of house or back of house, is all focused on 

giving the best for Londoners, the taxpayer and also those people who commute to London.   

 

John Robinson (Chairman of Durham and Darlington Fire Authority and Emergency Services 

Collaboration Working Group):  Clearly in the County of Durham we are a rural county.  We had to look at 

collaboration long before the duty of collaboration came in.  It is engrained into our philosophy.  It is 

engrained into why we use the title, “Being the best”.  It is being the best at providing improved public safety.  

We looked at collaboration not only with our fellow colleagues in the police, the ambulance and so on.  We 

have the Pennine Way that runs through our area so we have collaboration with Mountain Rescue.  We have 

quad stations, we have tri-stations.  We have looked at all different agencies as well as the normal statutory.  

We have looked at collaboration locally in regard to what the fire services in the north east can do to work 

together both front of house and back, and we have also heavily been involved, along with London, in the 

national collaboration among all fire services.  We have looked at it both internally as a fire service and 

externally with our agencies, and certainly we became a pilot site for the National Health Service in regard to 

first responding.  We took it as global.  We will join in with anyone.   

 

Sarah Nattrass (Assistant Chief Fire Officer, Durham and Darlington Fire Authority):  I would exactly 

concur with all the blue light partners’ comments for now.  Definitely, our drive is efficiency, effectiveness and 

obviously our delivery for the public safety and the community.  Our strategy up in Country Durham and 

Darlington is based on three areas: better value for money, making sure that we can look at quantifiable 

efficiencies in any collaboration that we do; improving our outcomes, improving the service we provide to local 

people and local communities; and also looking to reduce the demand that we have by working together in our 

individual organisations and hopefully improving our delivery to the local community.  It is absolutely vital that 

this is bought into by all partners and driven from the top of the organisation throughout.   

 

Susan Hall (Chairman):  OK.  Lovely.  If I concentrate on Durham to start with, has the Policing and Crime 

Act’s duty to collaborate made much difference or were you doing it before then anyway? 

Page 10



 

 

 

John Robinson (Chairman of Durham and Darlington Fire Authority and Emergency Services 

Collaboration Working Group):  We were doing it before then.  We have a Collaboration Board that the 

Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) [Ron Hogg] attends, I attend as Chair of the Fire Authority, the Chief 

Constable [Michael Barton] attends, the Chief Fire Officer [Stuart Errington] attends, and senior officials and 

officers.  We meet on a regular basis, examining and looking at collaboration and how we can take it forward.  

It is something we established before the [Policing and Crime] Act [2017].  It was just rolling on.   

 

Susan Hall (Chairman):  It is continuing.  If I can ask everybody else, has this Policing and Crime Act [2017] 

changed the way the emergency services work in London?  Were you doing any of it first, Richard? 

 

Richard Mills (Assistant Commissioner, Operational Policy and Assurance, London Fire Brigade):  In 

relation to something my colleague said earlier about the operational response, Members may recall that we 

did a collaboration day back in November 2017 where we demonstrated at Lambeth Fire Station the blue light 

collaboration that was already taking place.  In answer to your question around the Policing and Crime Act, it is 

an enabling Act that will enable us to formalise the conversations and think about collaboration in relation to 

all the activities we take, whether that is operational or whether that is through our support services.  Many of 

those conversations had been taking place even before the Act.  What that Act allows us to do is to bring it to 

the forefront of all our thoughts when we are in the early stages of talking about our strategies and also when 

we talk about our contracts and efficiency and effectiveness as a whole, as a holistic approach.   

 

Andrew Dismore AM (Deputy Chair):  Just following on from what Richard [Mills] has just been saying, you 

are all doing it anyway so why do you need a statutory duty to make you do it?  That is question one.  

Question two:  Have you had the resources you need to do it properly?  In particular, for example, Richard, I 

am thinking of the urban search and rescue (USAR) exercise we had in February [2019].  You were there and 

the police were there and it was a very good opportunity but LAS could not afford to go, in my understanding.  

Without the resources, is this going to work effectively?   

 

Kevin Canavan (Head of Collaboration, London Ambulance Service):  I was not aware the LAS could not 

afford to go to that particular event.   

 

Andrew Dismore AM (Deputy Chair):  That was my impression.  If there was another reason -- 

 

Kevin Canavan (Head of Collaboration, London Ambulance Service):  Operational pressures are probably 

more likely.  Has the Act actually changed anything that we do?  As I say, it has formalised the collaboration 

arrangements.  All three services have invested heavily in collaboration.  Structurally, we have created a London 

Blue Light Collaboration Team, we have created governance structures around this and we have formalised and 

embedded collaboration into the three organisations.   

 

DAC Matthew Twist (Transformation Directorate, Metropolitan Police Service):  It is also the 

legislation itself.  While we were doing much of the stuff anyway, what it has done is given more momentum, 

given more of a push and given extra focus.  Our three Chiefs meet now more regularly to formally discuss 

collaboration.  We meet at this sort of level to discuss how we are taking forward the thematic areas that we 

are looking at in terms of collaboration.   

 

It is true to say the exercising and operations have been well-established in London over many years - I can 

think back to significant exercises that we have done over the past decade - but that is not without challenge.  

There are reasons why, for whatever reason at whatever time, individual agencies or individual services may not 

be able to support that, as Kevin has outlined.  Generally speaking, we have a good track record of delivering 

Page 11



 

 

fairly large multi-agency exercises and do across a variety of spheres, whether that is terrorist-related incidents, 

whether that is, as you have said, USAR-type stuff, whether that is chemical, biological, radiological and 

nuclear or whether that is mass casualties.  All that sort of stuff is well-exercised and has been over the course 

of the years in various operational contexts within London.   

 

Richard Mills (Assistant Commissioner, Operational Policy and Assurance, London Fire Brigade):  

From my perspective in relation to your question, it is not always necessarily about monetary value; it is about 

the amount of time and investment.  We will utilise each other’s skills.  I have spoken to Kevin and I know we 

have an LAS member of staff who sits with us to help us with our medical intervention activities.  He has 

proven invaluable.  While the question around collaboration is, “Can it be funded?” there will always be 

challenges around exercising and there will always be the challenges around resourcing for all services.  The 

benefit of doing collaboration is about freeing up spare capacity by utilising people more effectively and 

utilising some of that capacity for other activities for the benefit of the blue light services and our response, 

and also in relation to how we operate during our prevention activities.  The enabling Act and the fact that we 

have a collaboration group established is evidence from us as an organisation of the benefits that will bring 

long-term.   

 

Andrew Dismore AM (Deputy Chair):  That neatly brings me to the question I was going to ask Susan 

[Ellison-Bunce], which is: what resources are we putting into this, as the Fire Brigade and indeed the other two 

emergency services?  How many bodies are working on it and are we going to get value for money out of it?  

In other words, how are we going to measure the outcomes to make sure that the outcome matches the input? 

 

Susan Ellison-Bunce (Assistant Director, Strategy and Risk, London Fire Brigade):  In terms of the 

investment, in governance terms I meet regularly with Kevin [Canavan] and Matt [Twist] and we are 

coordinating and driving, if you like, that blue light collaboration.  That is part of the investment.  That is part 

of my time.  LFB have funded two half posts to put together into the team.  That is also partly funded by the 

LAS and the MPS.  We have just two whole-time people, really, working on coordinating and driving it.  They 

are not actually running projects that will deliver collaboration, what they are doing is making sure that all the 

services are aware of what is going on and identifying opportunities to collaborate, which is part of our duty 

under the Act, of course, now.  It is not just to be collaborating where we can but to actively seek opportunity 

to do that.   

 

Then we are working to support colleagues like Richard [Mills] and his equivalents in the other emergency 

services so that they can meet regularly and pick up the thematic areas in the strategic intent.  The idea is that 

with good strategic alignment, we are focusing on opportunities that we were all interested in developing 

anyway and then working to do things in concert so that we can do what we were intending to do anyway but 

better together and hopefully more cheaply.   

 

In terms of measuring outcome and value for money, you are right, it is quite hard to measure that as an 

outcome.  Fundamentally, what we would hope is that our performance indicators in London - the number of 

fires, the number of fatalities, those sorts of performance indicators; the performance indicators by which we 

measure our performance already - are sufficient to measure the effectiveness of the activity that we are 

carrying out with partners.  I am not sure that it warrants separate -- 

 

Andrew Dismore AM (Deputy Chair):  Those statistics you expect to improve as a result of this? 

 

Susan Ellison-Bunce (Assistant Director, Strategy and Risk, London Fire Brigade):  Yes.  It would be 

very hard to identify what proportion of that benefit was accrued from collaboration activity but 

fundamentally, if we believe that we are measuring our performance in the areas that matter, we would hope 

Page 12



 

 

that collaborative activity will improve that performance.  We could - we have not but we could - look at input 

performance measures.  We are certainly collating the data on collaboration and we are in a position to identify 

what is working and what is not working so well.  Evaluation of specific initiatives is underway.  We are looking 

at the Safe and Well [Fire Safety Home] visits that we have been piloting in five boroughs across London.  We 

are doing evaluation of that and that will give us specific information about the effectiveness of that particular 

initiative, but I think it would be very difficult to say, “As a result of collaboration A, we have delivered this 

outcome for London”.  It would be very difficult to pull that apart that specifically.   

 

Andrew Dismore AM (Deputy Chair):  Going back to the start of your answer, across the three emergency 

services we have two bodies, as it were, working on this? 

 

Susan Ellison-Bunce (Assistant Director, Strategy and Risk, London Fire Brigade):  Yes.   

 

Andrew Dismore AM (Deputy Chair):  Just two bodies.  Right, OK.  Finally on this, a question to our 

colleagues from Durham.  To an extent, I suspect you have been doing this because you are a relatively small 

brigade.  I think the population of your area is the same as my constituency.   

 

John Robinson (Chairman of Durham and Darlington Fire Authority and Emergency Services 

Collaboration Working Group):  It is 600,000.   

 

Andrew Dismore AM (Deputy Chair):  Yes, that is about the same as my constituency of two London 

boroughs.  If you are looking at collaboration, is there not a case in some of the smaller brigades to merge 

those brigades with neighbouring brigades to get a better critical mass and reduce overheads and costs that 

way? 

 

John Robinson (Chairman of Durham and Darlington Fire Authority and Emergency Services 

Collaboration Working Group):  Can I come back to that but also give you a national perspective on earlier 

on?  The Emergency Service Working Group - the seven constituencies, that is the police, ambulance and so on 

- have set up three task groups and those are reporting directly to the Minister.  The task groups are looking at 

inspections and opportunities to collaborate.  When the inspections are coming into both the fire and the 

police and when they are coming into health, the Care Quality Commission and the fire inspections are looking 

at the effectiveness of the duty to collaborate and asking for responses back.   

 

Task Group 2 is looking at the financial barriers to collaboration, looking at what the barriers are, what the 

problems are and at the same time what the financial benefits of collaboration have been.  That is reporting 

back.  Thirdly, it is looking at cultural issues.  Are there are any cultural barriers to collaboration?  It is also 

bringing in and looking at data.  Certainly, the current data is showing that out of 358 responses from fire 

services to questionnaires, we have 805 instances where positive collaboration has brought efficiency and 

effectiveness across the country.   

 

Moving back to your question, in Northumberland, Durham and Tyne and Wear we are looking at where we 

can work together.  Can we combine our control?  Can we combine our operations?  We are looking at more 

collaboration, working that way while retaining the identity.  Our local people want to retain the identity of 

their police and of their fire [services].  Certainly, our PCC has made it quite specific that he does not want to 

take over fire and neither does he want to be on our Fire Authority.  What he says is that being on the Fire 

Authority could restrict his activity and restrict the way he carries out his PCC role.  We believe our identity as a 

single Fire Authority is important.   

 

Page 13



 

 

DAC Matthew Twist (Transformation Directorate, Metropolitan Police Service):  Just a supplementary 

on the number of people.  Susan [Ellison-Bunce] alluded to the two from the LFB who are on that team but 

the total team is bigger.   

 

Andrew Dismore AM (Deputy Chair):  That is what I was trying to get at.   

 

DAC Matthew Twist (Transformation Directorate, Metropolitan Police Service):  Yes.  We have, in 

total, four and a half people.  It does not sound huge, but it is four and a half people across the LAS, the MPS 

and Fire [Brigade].  You touched on the questions of benefits and that team is, at the moment, working with 

Essex Fire and Rescue, who are the national leads in terms of benefit mapping for collaboration, to look at how 

that could be done.  That is one of the strands of work that the team is currently looking at.   

 

Susan Hall (Chairman):  Thank you.  Recently - I suppose it is about a year ago now - there has been a 

transfer of responsibility for London’s fire and rescue service from the London Fire and Emergency Planning 

Authority (LFEPA) to the Mayor.  Do you think this has created new opportunities for more collaboration and 

if so, can any of you give an example of that? 

 

Susan Ellison-Bunce (Assistant Director, Strategy and Risk, London Fire Brigade):  I am not sure it 

has particularly, no.  It has enabled a focus on it.  As colleagues have already said, we were collaborating 

before.  The Policing and Crime Act itself introduced a stronger focus on that and an emphasis on the need to 

take collaboration into account in particular ways.  What it did do, I think, is prompt the three Chiefs to come 

together, as they were anyway, and to look specifically at collaboration.  The three previous Chiefs agreed a 

strategic intent.  The three current Chiefs have agreed a revised version of that and that is setting out their 

shared vision for collaboration at a very high level for the foreseeable future.  I think it has enabled us to focus 

on specific areas that are of interest to us across the three blue light organisations.   

 

Susan Hall (Chairman):  OK.  What governance structures are in place to ensure that there is effective 

oversight of collaboration activities in London?   

 

DAC Matthew Twist (Transformation Directorate, Metropolitan Police Service):  I am happy to start.  

There is a hierarchy of meetings and structures that we have.  Susan [Ellison-Bunce] has already articulated 

about the three Chiefs’ meetings, which set the vision, which we all report to and update.  We have a Blue 

Light Collaboration Board that sits below that, and beneath that the heads of project boards.  Our 

collaboration effort and work has been separated into six broad strands looking at strategy, response, 

prevention, people, command and control services, and business support and infrastructure, and I think within 

that one it would include estates.  Each of those heads of project boards has a working group.   

 

Internally within the MPS and probably of less interest, we have the Blue Light Collaboration Board.  While we 

touched on four and a half people there are far more than that working on collaboration, just not full-time.  

We have senior people, directors within human resources (HR), within estates, within digital policing and the 

operation who meet regularly at a senior level to take forward their area of responsibility and the area of work 

they are looking at.  In very broad terms, that is how I see it.  I am sure there is a better way of describing it.   

 

Susan Ellison-Bunce (Assistant Director, Strategy and Risk, London Fire Brigade):  Not at all.  That 

covers the highlights.  We have a procurement working group and an information technology (IT) working 

group.  There are a number of areas that are looking at collaboration, but in effect as part of their day job.   

 

Kevin Canavan (Head of Collaboration, London Ambulance Service):  Just to clarify that, we advocate 

as a collaborative Board that collaboration should not be seen as an additional to-do.  It is part of your day job.  

Page 14



 

 

That is very much the emphasis placed upon the three organizations, that collaboration is a vehicle that can 

help you deliver rather than an additional and burdensome task.  It certainly is not.   

 

Susan Hall (Chairman):  No.  Thank you.  John, if I can ask you, in late 2017 the Emergency Services 

Collaboration Working Group set out to establish an emergency services collaboration database.  Can you 

provide an update on that work?   

 

John Robinson (Chairman of Durham and Darlington Fire Authority and Emergency Services 

Collaboration Working Group):  Yes.  I partly referred to it.  In relation to that database, 358 survey results 

came back from the country - I did quote it earlier - and 805 examples came out of that, and a report.  I have 

brought you a copy if you do not have it.   

 

Susan Hall (Chairman):  Lovely, thank you.   

 

John Robinson (Chairman of Durham and Darlington Fire Authority and Emergency Services 

Collaboration Working Group):  I have to give one caveat.  Knowing that we were coming to London, you 

will find pink is highlighted everywhere.  We have already highlighted for you where London is and you will 

find that there is quite a lot.  We produced a report on what results came back.  We are now then 

disseminating every single part of that throughout the various task and finish groups.  That will then form the 

basis of the work of the three task groups over the coming year.   

 

Susan Hall (Chairman):  Lovely.  Thank you.  I look forward to reading it.   

 

John Robinson (Chairman of Durham and Darlington Fire Authority and Emergency Services 

Collaboration Working Group):  You talk about London.  If you look in our report - I was looking at it - at 

the information-sharing, certainly there is a big paragraph and London features heavily on how good it is at 

information-sharing, how it is seen across the country as a beacon for its information-sharing and for the way 

you have responded to the concepts of ‘protect, prepare, contest’.  In fact, we are watching London and 

working our systems based on what you are doing in London.  Every credit to London for that.   

 

Susan Hall (Chairman):  That is what we like to hear because we all think that London is the best.  Thank 

you very much.  

 

Gareth Bacon AM:  Councillor Robinson, they will be aimed at you mostly.  You are obviously a man who 

knows how to flatter his audience, so thank you very much.   

 

John Robinson (Chairman of Durham and Darlington Fire Authority and Emergency Services 

Collaboration Working Group):  No, no, I am just -- 

 

Gareth Bacon AM:  It might be justifiable flattery but it is all good.  As the Chairman said, we do like to hear 

good things about the LFB.   

 

All of you talked about why collaboration is a good thing in principle and talked about how it might lead to 

lower cost and better output.  Perhaps from your report, which I gather you are going to circulate after the 

meeting, could you give us an example of how that has worked in Durham?  Obviously, you are slightly ahead 

of us in terms of what you have actually implemented.   

 

John Robinson (Chairman of Durham and Darlington Fire Authority and Emergency Services 

Collaboration Working Group):  I can give you three quick examples.  We have a quad station in Barnard 

Page 15



 

 

Castle.  The quad station is where we have the police, the fire, the ambulance and also our mountain rescue all 

based in one station.  Therefore, we can respond instantly into the Pennine Way.   

 

We have a three quad station in the city of Durham which is the fire, ambulance and ourselves, and there is 

also part of that for mountain rescue to go out.  Again, all three of us are based in one area.  There are the 

efficiencies of only having one station, one base in the area.  The public like it because they know that if they 

want to go to the police, they want to go to fire, if they want the ambulance, they go there.   

 

We took part in what I call the first responder trial.  This is the responder trial where went out working with the 

North East Ambulance Service.  We saved more lives in that responder trial than we did in our normal, basic 

work of fire and road accidents.  That trial was a success.  There are three quick successes that we believe 

prove that it does work.   

 

Gareth Bacon AM:  OK.  In the process of setting it up and then carrying it through, what has been the 

greatest challenge to establishing collaboration as a way of working up in Durham? 

 

John Robinson (Chairman of Durham and Darlington Fire Authority and Emergency Services 

Collaboration Working Group):  Changing personnel.  We have had a change in the Chair of the Fire 

Authority.  We have had change in regard to the Chief Constable, who is about to go.  We lost our Chief 

Executive.  It is change in senior personnel and maintaining that culture and that commitment, but that has 

been able to happen.  It is also getting people to accept the culture change and accept that collaboration does 

not mean to say, “We are going to take over, you are going to lose your service and you are going to lose your 

identity”.  Collaboration means working together, not taking over.   

 

Gareth Bacon AM:  You said that in a very concise statement in here but how have you made that real for 

people up in your neck of the woods?  Change is uncomfortable for everyone, is it not, and certainly in London 

we have blue light services that have tried to cooperate to a greater or lesser degree over the years.  We heard 

from our FBU representative earlier on that there are some reservations the FBU have about certain things.  I 

am imagining you have encountered some of these problems already up in your neck of the woods.  How have 

you demonstrated that collaboration would work and it is not about taking services away or merging them or 

anything like that? 

 

John Robinson (Chairman of Durham and Darlington Fire Authority and Emergency Services 

Collaboration Working Group):  Can I pass over to Sarah?  That is Sarah’s day-to-day work.   

 

Sarah Nattrass (Assistant Chief Fire Officer, Durham and Darlington Fire Authority):  The point, 

going back to what John said before, is that culture can be a big barrier.  Different organisations have different 

outcomes that they are trying to achieve at the time.  As I said, initially it was about driving it from the top of 

the organisation and that belief.  You develop those relationships early on by working together.  They get to 

know each other and understand that it is the right thing to do.   

 

We are in austere times.  We need to look at things differently and change.  We cannot carry on doing things 

like we used to do.  We just do not have the money or the personnel any more to be able to do that, so we 

have to be innovative.  We have to look at alternative ways to deliver our outcomes and ultimately, we are here 

to serve the public so we need to change and adapt, move with the times and do things differently.   

 

Gareth Bacon AM:  OK.  Turning to our London witnesses from left to right as I look at it, so starting with 

Kevin, what do you see as the biggest challenges in London to taking forward collaboration in the way that 

Durham have? 

Page 16



 

 

 

Kevin Canavan (Head of Collaboration, London Ambulance Service):  One of the first things we did 

when we were established as a blue light collaboration team was go on a whistle-stop tour of the country.  We 

visited a station referred to as a quad station and saw some good examples, particularly in Manchester, around 

Safe and Well visits.  We went and saw best practice in action, which was interesting and a steep learning 

curve.   

 

To answer your question, “What are the challenges around collaboration in London?” as ever, personalities can 

get in the way sometimes if people feel that their department is under threat.  When you start talking about 

potential efficiency and effectiveness around back office functions that obviously sets alarm bells ringing for 

some people so the barriers can come up there.  For me, collaboration is about relationship-building.  At least 

80% of collaboration is about being honest with each other, building relationships across the three services 

and trusting that this is not an exercise in cutting jobs, this is not purely an exercise in financial saving; this is, 

as Matt [Twist] alluded to earlier, an exercise in improving the service and provision to Londoners.  Once we 

can get over those cultural barriers of three well-established and long in the tooth services who have always 

worked this way in our own little silos, once we can get over those personalities and entrench collaboration as 

the way we do things around there, then that is the way forward.   

 

Barriers have not been many, if I am honest.  In some of the conversations we have facilitated you see a lot of 

lightbulbs come on.  For example, the three directors of estates met and they were having a tea and biscuit 

chat around the issues they face.  One of them said, “Well, we have a challenge in” -- I cannot remember the 

area of London, and the other estate director said, “That’s funny, we have an estate challenge there”, and the 

third director said, “I can’t believe it.  We have exactly the same problems in that area”.  For me, the challenges 

are getting people around the table talking, being honest and open with each other and leaving nothing 

behind.  Let’s have those honest discussions.   

 

DAC Matthew Twist (Transformation Directorate, Metropolitan Police Service):  I support everything 

Kevin said.  The challenges are, I would say, culture, scale, investment and almost legacy in some ways.  The 

culture point is right in that if we all look to what the public outcome is rather than what the service outcome 

is then that would be a good guide, and we are trying to do that.  Do our performance matrices do what we are 

held to account over, drive collaboration, or do they drive individual service targets?  That is a question.  I am 

not saying that is a big blocker.  There are ways of working that we have which are long steeped in history and 

difficult to change and we should not underestimate that.   

 

Scale.  Having worked in a smaller force where some of what John [Robinson] and Sarah [Nattrass] have 

described is thrust upon you and you have to move more quickly, there are also opportunities that you have 

there that are much harder to achieve in London.  In terms of scale, delivering change in a much larger 

organisation is slightly more difficult when you do not have the same day-to-day contact with all of the staff, 

as you can achieve in a smaller county force where I have been before.   

 

Also, some of the history and just the geography of London.  Again, I have seen developed elsewhere joint 

accommodation.  That requires significant investment.  It requires new build sites, effectively, or significant 

refurbishment of existing sites, and London is constrained in property terms in many ways.  There are not those 

opportunities to build significant new joint estates.   

 

However, there are absolutely places where we can collaborate.  There are things that we are looking at on the 

horizon and there are things informed by the duty to collaborate.  In west London we might have an 

opportunity where we could do something like that, as a result of other things that are going on.  Certainly, in 

terms of our estates, as we are all looking to shrink our estates - or certainly the police are - from the number 

Page 17



 

 

of buildings we have to the number of buildings we need to have to deliver an economic and effective model, 

we will look at how we can do that in collaboration.  If we are building a significant new building anywhere, we 

will look at the collaborative opportunities within it.   

 

To summarise the question, culture is a big thing.  Scale and how each of the services is measured are other 

things.   

 

David Shek (Regional Secretary for London, Fire Brigades Union):  I do not know if you know about it 

but years ago, just going back to what I mentioned earlier, there was a bit of -- like I said, we have a lot of 

respect for our colleagues in the police and the ambulance, we work closely with them all the time, but there 

was a situation years ago where the police were using a station in London and the Fire Brigade were deemed to 

be associated with them, and attacks on firefighters went up in that area.  We then subsequently started 

something called the Local Intervention Fire Education (LIFE) Project, which my colleague Richard [Mills] will 

know over there.  This is the type of stuff we are worried about, that we are seen in a different light.  I get 

what my colleague down the end there is saying about his quad station turning out but like I said, we are still 

very much opposed to it because, no offence, we are seen in a different light to the police.  There is a lot more 

animosity towards our colleagues in the police.  That is the way we see it.   

 

We do share some buildings with the LAS, for example Heathrow.  We do have a shared building there, but if 

anything, it is an individual circumstance where it is set up so they do not impact on the fire station staff 

training and duties.  Stuff like that can be looked at with the ambulance but it is all on an individual basis.   

 

Gareth Bacon AM:  I heard what you said earlier on about not wanting joint shouts and things like that and I 

understand that.  You sounded at that time that you were more amenable to the idea of sharing facilities but 

what you have just said now seems to contradict that.  You have said that you would be amenable to it with 

the LAS but not with the police because you do not want institutional symmetry with them.  You do not want 

to be brand associated, for want of a better phrase, with the MPS.  Is that correct?   

 

David Shek (Regional Secretary for London, Fire Brigades Union):  Not entirely but yes, there is that 

point where we do not want to be associated with the police because of the way we are seen in a different 

light to members of the public.   

 

Gareth Bacon AM:  OK.  Moving on to the LFB then, I do not know, Susan [Ellison-Bunce] or Richard, which 

of you would want to take that.  Richard? 

 

Richard Mills (Assistant Commissioner, Operational Policy and Assurance, London Fire Brigade):  To 

concur with my colleagues, culture is absolutely key.  Culture and trust, as I see it.  It is not only the culture but 

the understanding between the organisations because obviously all of our cultures and some of our priorities, 

whether they are strategic priorities or legislative priorities, may differ.  It is about getting an understanding 

from each other about what that stands for, but it is also about the culture of the workforces and changing the 

way in which we communicate with our workforce around collaboration and what that means.   

 

All services are very comfortable on an incident ground collaborating to a greater end and increasingly we are 

finding that the workforce is more and more focused on joint working through some of the softer areas with 

our emergency service colleagues.  Safe and Well visits have been running in five boroughs where they have 

been piloted.  They are a very good example of that.  We have worked with the LAS around slips, trips and 

falls.  We are working with the MPS around security of people’s premises and bogus callers.  There are 

opportunities.  If we do 84,000 home fire safety visits a year, there are opportunities to get into many 

properties that some other brigades - and I recognise some of the concerns from my FBU colleague.  They are 

Page 18



 

 

opportunities to get into premises and do some of that prevention work on behalf of the LAS and the MPS.  

We are working very closely with them and likewise we have a strategy of opening up fire stations and utilising 

those fire stations for our colleagues if we see fit.   

 

We will of course always listen to the concerns of the workforce and also from FBU colleagues, but I think it is 

very important to recognise that there are some significant benefits of working very closely together, training 

together and that natural synergy that happens when you are in contact at a local level around how you 

interact on stations.  We have the LAS come and join us, we have the police Borough Wardens come and meet 

with Borough Commanders in stations.  It goes on.  We want to maintain our identity, but it is about how we 

recognise that we are supporting our colleagues from the other services to deliver better service for London.   

 

The other elements of challenge around collaboration are very much around capacity.  The example that was 

utilised was from a smaller police force.  There are some significant figures where the police would like to us to 

get involved but as a fire service that is relatively small in comparison to LAS and MPS, it is about managing 

the understanding and the expectations of what we can actually deliver.   

 

In summary, it is culture, it is trust and it is around what are our key priorities, our joint priorities, and what can 

feasibly be delivered within the capability of each organisation.   

 

Gareth Bacon AM:  How far down the line are you on outlining those three key areas and discussing with 

colleagues in the other services?  How far are they in terms of reassuring their workforces?   

 

Susan Ellison-Bunce (Assistant Director, Strategy and Risk, London Fire Brigade):  It is probably true 

to say that we do that on a case-by-case basis, on a project by project basis.  Around the work that 

Matt [Twist] alluded to earlier that we have been doing together on collaborative contact and response, we 

have agreed joint communications across the three organisations with the staff, in case they were concerned 

that we were looking at merging of roles or even necessarily automatic co-location and so on.  We agreed 

messages and we made sure that we shared things at the right time in the same way to reassure staff that we 

were all working together.  That is an example of how we do it and it is usually on a case-by-case basis.   

 

DAC Matthew Twist (Transformation Directorate, Metropolitan Police Service):  A very good example 

that was touched on was the collapse behind locked doors or the medical emergency behind locked doors.  We 

totally understand that the primary duties of the respective agencies are different but what the collaboration is 

looking to do is to make sure that the right service attends the job to deliver the best effect.  In terms of a case 

of collapse behind a locked door, is the best effect going to be achieved by a police officer coming and trying 

to kick the door down or is it going to be achieved by a professional firefighting crew with a whole load of 

entry equipment who can do that in 30 seconds, if not less?  But we totally understand that that cannot be at 

the expense of being able to go and fight a fire if needed.  The work that is ongoing to look at the trial is to 

see: does that affect the demand?  Does it mean that firefighters are less able to go and achieve the core 

duties that they have to, or is that demand manageable?  We have to trial some of this stuff to work out 

whether or not that demand is manageable across the services.   

 

Going back to all of our points at the very start, which I think we all thoroughly and wholeheartedly agree with, 

it is about the delivery of the service to the public of London and what they want at a time of crisis is 

somebody to help.  I think most people do not particularly care what uniform they are wearing if someone is 

coming to help them, be that a medical emergency, be that a collapse or be that a crime.  I think what they 

want is someone in authority to come and provide some assistance, and it is just making sure that we maintain 

our core responsibilities, our core identities, and are able to deliver those whilst focusing on how we can 

provide that help as needed.   

Page 19



 

 

 

Gareth Bacon AM:  That is an excellent sentiment for me to finish on so I am going to stop there.   

 

Andrew Dismore AM (Deputy Chair):  Can I first of all broaden this out a little bit?  We are talking about 

blue light collaboration but in practice isn’t the collaboration with local authorities, social services, education 

services and so forth equally important?  Particularly we are talking about Safe and Well, which is as much to 

do with social services as with anybody else, is it not?  You are doing that anyway.  Do you need a statutory 

duty to make you do it?   

 

Richard Mills (Assistant Commissioner, Operational Policy and Assurance, London Fire Brigade):  If I 

might, at a borough level certainly if you look at Borough Commanders you will have many examples, both as 

LFEPA Members and also as part of the scrutiny committees beforehand, that we have many links into many 

organisations, not just local authorities.  When you start talking about safeguarding issues, that goes across all 

of our three roles.   

 

Around the duty to collaborate, I go back to what I was saying earlier about it being an enabling Act.  This had 

been going on way before the implementation of the legislation.  Borough Commanders, depending on their 

relations with local authorities, depending on the key priorities on those local authorities as well as our 

priorities, will shape the way in which they engage with their public and identify those particular people of 

vulnerability.  It will also enable them to work with not only blue light services and local authorities but other 

agencies on a case-by-case basis for vulnerable people such as hoarders, and around some of the intelligence 

that is led in relation to the response and preventative work that we do.   

 

While this Act may look at blue light services, the ethos of the LFB - I am not speaking on behalf of my 

colleagues but I am sure it applies to them as well - is about that broader bit around how we collaborate with 

anybody that deals with the public that we can get into and be more effective in how we do that preventative 

work or how we do that response work, whether that is us doing it or whether that is referring it to other 

agencies.  That is the role that we expect from our firefighters when they go into incidents and when they do 

their community engagement activity.   

 

David Shek (Regional Secretary for London, Fire Brigades Union):  Just on that, a couple of things they 

have touched on.  Obviously, there is the Safe and Well stuff.  Some of you may or may not know that it is part 

of a national negotiation going on in the National Joint Council (NJC) for firefighters, which is not agreed.  It is 

agreed it is not part of our role map.  We are currently, right now as I am sitting here, going through a 

consultative ballot about whether we deem an offer that has been put on the table as acceptable to do this 

type of work.  We are recommending it is not acceptable with the amount of money they put up.  Obviously, a 

lot of stuff they are talking about I would not be engaging with because it would undermine our national 

negotiations on the NJC.   

 

Andrew Dismore AM (Deputy Chair):  OK.  Can I come back to the issue of buildings and estates?  I think 

Matthew [Twist] was raising this.  On this idea of joint buildings, you have done it in Durham but presumably 

you built it specifically for that, possibly at a different time when money was not quite so tight.  In London, we 

have one police station per borough.  We may have two, three or four fire stations.  We may have one or two 

ambulance stations.  You all have different attendance time requirements and you all have different 

operational requirements about where you should be to do X, Y or Z.  Is it not quite pie in the sky to say, “Let’s 

put you all together to achieve your individual performance indicators, targets and goals”? 

 

Page 20



 

 

David Shek (Regional Secretary for London, Fire Brigades Union):  On that, Andrew, I would agree with 

that because obviously there are different governance systems and different employers.  It would be near 

impossible.   

 

Susan Ellison-Bunce (Assistant Director, Strategy and Risk, London Fire Brigade):  I was going to say 

I think it is on an opportunity-by-opportunity basis.  As you know, we all have a property, an estate at 

Heathrow that may be affected by the proposals for the airport there and there is potentially an opportunity 

for us to look at coming together and building a shared facility.  That will be part of the consideration.  

Depending on our needs it may or may not come to fruition and depending on the cost of that it may or may 

not come to fruition, but it is absolutely part of the consideration because there is the opportunity.  As Matt 

was saying, because land is so unavailable in London our opportunities are going to be fairly restricted, but 

when we get the opportunity we will certainly consider it.   

 

DAC Matthew Twist (Transformation Directorate, Metropolitan Police Service):  It does not have to 

be on the macro scale, either.  Yes, we have different response requirements and our estates models lend 

themselves to that but we also have requirements to have dedicated ward hubs or Dedicated Ward Officers 

based within the communities, and what we do have is ambulance stations and fire stations that are also based 

in the communities.  We can look at opportunities and we have, where we have put small numbers of Ward 

Officers in those shared buildings.  It does not sound overly ambitious but it is certainly a start.   

 

As Susan [Ellison-Bunce] has alluded to, we do have some major estates projects coming up in the next five to 

ten years.  Where we do have those opportunities, and each of us will have them, it is looking at the 

opportunity and looking at the duty to collaborate, to say, “If we are going to spend this amount of public 

money on developing a new site, should we do that together?  Would it be more efficient?  What is the 

cost-benefit analysis?  Does it meet our operational needs?”  Effectively, while we cannot sit here and say 

today that “yes, we are definitely going to do that”, what we are saying is that we would look at each one on a 

case-by-case basis and if there was an opportunity and it all aligned, we would definitely want to do it.   

 

Kevin Canavan (Head of Collaboration, London Ambulance Service):  I think it is fair to say there are 

already several sites where we co-locate.  Heathrow has been mentioned.  The Fire Brigade headquarters hosts 

our information and communication technology (ICT) team.  The Stratford fire station hosts our cycle response 

team.  There are numerous sites across London where either a bi-service or tri-service presence is already there.   

 

It is also important to point out that one of the founding principles of collaboration among the three services 

in London is that the costs associated with co-location should be on a cost recovery basis only.  No one service 

- and we all agreed to this - should look to make financial gain out of the other.  It is very easy to say, “Yes, 

move in and we will charge you commercial rent.  Thank you very much”.  We have already tackled that thorny 

issue and said wherever we look to co-locate, it is on a cost recovery basis only.   

 

Richard Mills (Assistant Commissioner, Operational Policy and Assurance, London Fire Brigade):  It 

is important to recognise, as my colleagues have said, it is on the basis of: does it give benefit to one or more 

agencies?  If it does not prove beneficial or it does not prove effective and efficient then we would not be 

doing it.  If we want to co-locate because that fits our response model across one, two or three services, then 

of course we would take the opportunity to look at it.  If it does not suit the correct location for a fire 

appliance, we will not go down that route unless we can demonstrate tangible benefits.  On the example that 

has been used by Kevin around headquarters, we have multiple agencies there.  We have the Local 

Government Association members there, we have LAS there, we have people who come and do hot-desking for 

fire aid.  It is about: what is the most efficient way?  What is the best location to put people in?  It is not purely 

about, as Kevin said, generating income or saving income.  It is about being efficient and effective.   

Page 21



 

 

 

Andrew Dismore AM (Deputy Chair):  I can certainly see a difference between office accommodation, for 

want of a better word, and operational stations, and it seems to me trying to get the ducks in a row for an 

operational co-location is quite a challenge.  Let us put it like that.  I know we have one in Barnet with the Fire 

Brigade one-pump and one ambulance station, though they did seem, last time I went, to operate entirely 

independently of each other although they are housed in the same building, which is not really building a joint 

culture.  I do not know if Sarah or John want to come in.  In your quad station, do the different service crews 

mix together?  Do they use the same gym or the same canteen, or do they keep themselves to themselves? 

 

Sarah Nattrass (Assistant Chief Fire Officer, Durham and Darlington Fire Authority):  They do 

integrate massively.  It has developed relationships, especially getting to know each other before the bells go 

in and they turn out on those blue lights, when we are most effective and respond to the people in need.  Yes, 

it has the principles of the Joint Emergency Services Interoperability Principles (JESIP) and it has absolutely 

improved that to no end.  They do integrate, they do share all of the facilities on station and they do share the 

costs of the station.  In terms of collaboration, opportunity to improve relationships, improve outcomes and 

reduce cost as well, it has satisfied all of those criteria in our collaboration strategy for that one premise alone.   

 

John Robinson (Chairman of Durham and Darlington Fire Authority and Emergency Services 

Collaboration Working Group):  One opened in 2017 and the other in 2018.  We have also done a joint 

training facility with Durham police because it came out of transformation funding.  We may be different to 

London but our capital is now becoming extremely restricted and we are only able to look for funding 

capital-wise in transformation.  The collaboration and transformation, working together, is where we need to 

go for our capital.  Certainly, we have a joint training centre with the police in Durham but it was built out of 

transformation funding and we see that is going to be the way forward for the next however many years that 

we will have to work collaboratively to put joint capital bids together to get the funding.   

 

Andrew Dismore AM (Deputy Chair):  I suppose what I am getting at in the end is the cultural differences 

between the different services and indeed local authorities.  Each organisation has its own cultural differences.  

Is that always a bad thing that gets in the way or is it something that has to be cherished and recognised?   

 

Richard Mills (Assistant Commissioner, Operational Policy and Assurance, London Fire Brigade):  I 

think we recognise it.  I certainly recognise the need to have an individual identity because obviously our roles 

are different on the incident ground, dare I say.  However, there is also a need for the cultures to recognise and 

merge on certain areas, particularly when we are talking about interacting with members of the public around 

preventative work.  Why could I not ask a firefighter to hand out a leaflet that is going to make a person safer, 

whether that is through fire, whether that is through medical health or dietary advice or whether that is 

through prevention of criminal activity?  I am not saying that the person who is presenting that leaflet is saying 

that they are a tri-service responder; what I am saying is that there is a firefighter there who is better equipped 

and more well-rounded to give the information to the public.   

 

On the incident ground, everyone knows their role and knows their specific culture, but the one culture that 

does shine through on the incident ground is that we are all there to pull together in the same direction.  I do 

not see why it is any different when we talk about preventative work.  I do accept that there is a concern 

around image and perception and part of that needs to be allayed, but at the same time we need to recognise 

there are certain things the police will do that the Fire Brigade would feel uncomfortable being involved in and 

vice versa, there are certain things that we may ask our other colleagues to do where they think, “Actually that 

is not our core duty and we are not prepared to do that”.   

 

Page 22



 

 

Susan Hall AM (Chairman):  Thank you.  Following on from that, David, I was very saddened by something 

you said a while back.  In my view, and this is my view, the respect for all the blue light services is not where it 

should be in some areas by some.  I was talking to a paramedic only a couple of weeks ago who said she is 

regularly spat at and hit.  I know firefighters suffer this as well.  I am saddened to hear what you say about the 

relationship with the police.  Do you not feel that it is incumbent upon us all to lift up in some areas the 

opinion of the police?  At the end of the day you are all blue light services, you are all there to look after the 

public and that has been demonstrated by comments from all of you all the time.  Therefore, we should do 

everything we can, I think, to enhance the opinion of the police held by some.  If that means cohabiting as 

well, if that is all part and parcel of this big job, do you not think that it is incumbent upon us all to do what we 

can in that respect? 

 

David Shek (Regional Secretary for London, Fire Brigades Union):  First, I do not condone anyone 

having that bad feeling but sadly in society we are viewed in different ways.  What I am saying my concerns are 

is that we are not seen in that way at the minute.  We are a separate service.  By putting us in a link with law 

enforcement or another arm of the law, if you will, we could be seen in that light.  Why would I put my 

members in that situation where they could be seen in that light and attacks on firefighters go up again?  I get 

what you are trying to say and what you are trying to get at and, like I said, there is no problem, we all work 

perfectly good on a fire ground, we have good relationships and we have a lot of good friends in the police 

force.  However, the services are separate, and they are seen in different lights.  There is nothing you can do 

about that.   

 

Susan Hall AM (Chairman):  No, I think that is negative.  I think we should be doing something about that 

and it would help if the unions got behind that.  We are all in this together, you are all the emergency services 

and we are all very grateful to you.   

 

David Shek (Regional Secretary for London, Fire Brigades Union):  The problem you have, Susan [Hall 

AM], is that the roles are very different.  Sorry to interrupt you.   

 

Susan Hall AM (Chairman):  They are absolutely different but nevertheless you are all there as protectors of 

the public and you all want to do your best.  I think protecting other services along the way is absolutely the 

way forward.  Can I ask -- 

 

Andrew Dismore AM (Deputy Chair):  I think you made a comment there and I think David should answer 

that.   

 

David Shek (Regional Secretary for London, Fire Brigades Union):  Yes.  Sorry, I was just saying the 

roles are very different and we cannot get away from that.  That is where we are with it and that is our 

position.   

 

Susan Hall AM (Chairman):  OK.  I hear what you are saying.  I am saying perhaps we should try.  OK, I -- 

 

Andrew Dismore AM (Deputy Chair):  I remember what happened during the Brixton riots where the Fire 

Brigade got very badly attacked when they went there to put out fires because they were behind the police 

lines.  You cannot get away from the fact that there are differences.   

 

Susan Hall AM (Chairman):  But equally I think we should be doing everything we can to assist our other 

blue light colleagues.   

 

David Shek (Regional Secretary for London, Fire Brigades Union):  I agree.  We will work closely -- 

Page 23



 

 

 

Susan Hall AM (Chairman):  I am loving that you are agreeing with me and on that point, I shall move swiftly 

on.   

 

David Shek (Regional Secretary for London, Fire Brigades Union):  My members’ safety is paramount.   

 

Susan Hall AM (Chairman):  Excellent.  I think he was agreeing with me.  Thank you very much.  David 

[Kurten AM], you are -- 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  I think safety has to be paramount.   

 

David Shek (Regional Secretary for London, Fire Brigades Union):  Yes.   

 

David Kurten AM:  Thanks for all your answers already.  We have a very good understanding of where you do 

collaborate and there is a lot going on already.  We talked about the possible collaboration with estates and 

what you do there and going into the future about possibly what you do with sharing buildings.  However, I 

would like to talk about IT.  That is another possible area where there is potential for collaboration.  It is a 

realistic aspiration for the emergency services to have integrated technology?  Can I ask, starting with Kevin, 

what you think about that? 

 

Kevin Canavan (Head of Collaboration, London Ambulance Service):  I do not know if you are aware of 

the Greater London Authority (GLA) Collaboration Board chaired by the Mayor’s Chief of Staff, David Bellamy.  

That Board recently met and the thematic areas that they are looking at are broadly similar to the Blue Light 

Collaboration Team areas.  One of those areas was the ICT arena.  They looked specifically at the question you 

asked there around -- and I learnt very early on when you ask ICT colleagues, “Surely you must be able to…” it 

is never so simple.   

 

In summary, when the three representatives from the services looked at the arena of ICT, their summary was 

that in technology terms we see the power of the GLA IT community - and I include all three services in that - 

in our approach, continuing to enable the sharing of information between us and our user base.  As we 

increasingly move forward towards cloud-based collaboration tools such as Box and Office 365, as well as 

desktop video, we are able to facilitate the sharing of information.  As we all adopt mobile working and install 

good quality Wi-Fi, the barriers to ad hoc co-location reduce but the tools we have to make collaboration 

easier across sites become apparent.   

 

What they are saying there is that over 1,000 different applications across the three services and trying to 

amalgamate all of those with some of the security concerns that the MPS will have around access to data and 

the sensitive information that they deal with, coupled with patient-sensitive data that we collate and the 

information that the LFB collates, it is an extremely complex environment and it is never as simple as one size 

fits all.  The ability for databases and software to talk to each other is probably more of the route we should go 

down rather than buying one computer-aided design and drafting (CADD) system, because they are an 

extremely complex piece of equipment.  Certainly, there have been discussions long had around one CADD 

system for London and they have proved futile in the past.  I do not say there are not opportunities that exist, 

more around back-office functionality and enabling more cloud-based activity, as the three IT experts from the 

three services and the GLA move to.   

 

David Kurten AM:  There is some scope in the back office, but the majority of things will be what you need 

to do for the ambulance service.  There are some things that cannot be shared.   

 

Page 24



 

 

Kevin Canavan (Head of Collaboration, London Ambulance Service):  Yes, but the ability to talk to each 

other.   

 

David Kurten AM:  Yes, absolutely, thanks.   

 

DAC Matthew Twist (Transformation Directorate, Metropolitan Police Service):  I would agree.  Some 

of this was pulled out of the strategic outline casework that was done as part of the Police Transformation 

Fund, the joint work we looked at in terms of the contact and collaboration.  Do I think that the answer is that 

we all change on to the same command and control system?  No, probably not.  The reason is that we are all at 

different stages in the lifecycle.  There are different command and control systems.  These are massively 

capital-heavy systems to replace and the MPS is looking to replace its one now but LAS and LFB are both at 

different stages in that.  However, should we get to a place where we can share information across the various 

command and control systems seamlessly and in real time, absolutely we should.  It is the integration that we 

are looking at.   

 

One of the areas that we looked at as part of the strategic outline case was the development of the multi-

agency information transfer hub.  Rather than just having a point-to-point where every time you push a button 

it can update the LAS or the LFB, that would be having a much more interactive system that is cloud-based, 

where you are continually updating each other and the availability of information is that much quicker and 

does not rely on a manual process of pushing buttons to get things transferred back and forth.   

 

These are exciting times in terms of technology for all of the blue light services as we move away from the big 

desktop, the big hardware purchases into more browser-based and more cloud-based solutions.  As we 

develop, I think over time, if there is the will - and I am sure there is - our systems will become more closely 

aligned.  I am not saying the same, but more aligned and more integrated.   

 

One of the big challenges, as Kevin has already touched on, is data.  The patient medical records are hugely 

sensitive, just as our crime intelligence records are hugely sensitive.  However, those are things that we can 

work hard on and we can work hard to look at how we can share stuff.  Therefore, I think there is a bright 

future with IT but it is one for the long haul, albeit the Multi Agency Incident Transfer (MAIT) hub stuff we 

could develop more quickly.   

 

Richard Mills (Assistant Commissioner, Operational Policy and Assurance, London Fire Brigade):  

Matt has done my summary about the MAIT.  Thank you very much for that.  I will go on to something else.   

 

From the perspective of sharing information data, absolutely cloud-based technology is the way that we are 

looking to go.  There are some tangible examples even now where we are sharing data.  We introduced a new 

defibrillator, from a manufacturer called ZOLL, which came off a framework agreement in conjunction with the 

LAS.  When we talk about tangible financial benefits, we are talking £200,000 saved on a framework 

agreement.  That equipment will provide data through our joint network services lead.  We can then provide 

that to the hospital.  Once the fire appliance comes back to the station, that can automatically be downloaded 

and that can be provided to the hospital services.  That is a tangible example of how we can share that data, 

and that is cloud-based technology.  The desire would be, of course, to do that transfer straight from a fire 

engine, straight from the ambulance, straight in.  That is a direction of travel that we desire to go.  Whether 

the technology can catch up with us, that is where we want to be.   

 

The example of how we utilise and share data, not only data transfer, if I use the same example, is that then 

shapes our education and training of our fire crews in relation to the depth of compression and the frequency 

of compression.  We can then look at, in conjunction with the LAS, what our firefighters have done well, what 

Page 25



 

 

our firefighters can benefit from and how we can change our training, so we get quicker hands on and we get 

more effective life-saving activity, utilising the data that we have learnt, and we provide that for clinical 

governance to the LAS.  Going forward, specifically in that area, there is some growth in the way in which we 

operate.  In support of both my colleagues, the My Data Transfer at control centres - the emergency services 

network, radio network - has been developed.  All of us sit on that Board in conjunction with the Home Office 

to make sure that the London desire and the need for London around Transport for London, Underground 

tunnels and so on has a representation from every service, and how that then links in from a national 

perspective as well.   

 

David Kurten AM:  Thank you.  David [Shek], do you have anything to add? 

 

David Shek (Regional Secretary for London, Fire Brigades Union):  They are going to be the experts 

here.  I know that the IT systems do cause my colleagues there on the left quite a lot of headaches by doing 

simple changes.  That is all I know; I am not really an expert.   

 

Andrew Dismore AM (Deputy Chair):  I mentioned earlier on the point about working with local authorities 

as well and we talked about the fire Safe and Well visits.  How is the information shared arising out of that? 

 

Richard Mills (Assistant Commissioner, Operational Policy and Assurance, London Fire Brigade):  A 

lot of community-based activities are driven by the Borough Commander.  As well as the fire Safe and Well 

visits where we are providing information to other colleagues, we have a number of schemes already in place as 

well.  Something like the LIFE project is an example.  We are doing knife crime.  We would be speaking to our 

police colleagues to ask what the areas of knife crime are in the area and whether that is part of our prevention 

activity when we are educating young people.  We have recently run a pilot - it is called Safety First - where 

they have gone into one borough, the Borough of Haringey.  That is into secondary schools about combatting 

knife crime and wider antisocial behaviour.   

 

The police strategy team have taken feedback from the pupils, parents and the teachers around the behaviours 

once we have done that input in conjunction with blue light services.  There are many pilots that take place, as 

Matt [Twist] said earlier.  We will always try to pilot something to make sure that we are not overloading our 

commitment or promising too much, but there will always be some tangible benefits at local level.  That is 

primarily driven by the Borough Commanders and the relationships they have with Chief Executives, and the 

Borough Commanders with police and their other partners.   

 

That then gets fed through in a wider piece of work to the organisation.  We would start to see some of the 

benefits around some of the interventions that we do around antisocial behaviour, arson, for example.  That is 

one of the range of reasons for the LIFE course.  Also, our Head of Community Safety, Chris O’Connor, will be 

looking at what that means for the strategy going forward.  The community safety activities we do have been 

well documented for many years; it is just the added advantage of having our partners with us as well to deliver 

a more rounded message.  Hopefully we will see the tangible benefits and so will they, and it will be the 

conversations being had by Borough Commanders to say if that is working well or if it is not working well.   

 

Andrew Dismore AM (Deputy Chair):  Thank you.  David [Shek], I want to come on to the co-responding 

pilots.  I know it is frozen in the dispute nationally.  What was the feeling of your members after the pilot 

ended?  Apart from the dispute, did they think it was a good thing to do or a bad thing to do?  Certainly, when 

I was talking to firefighters on the stations I got a rather mixed picture.   

 

David Shek (Regional Secretary for London, Fire Brigades Union):  I think they were not very happy 

with the trial, or aspects of it.  The general consensus - speaking from a national point of view here - is there is 

Page 26



 

 

sympathy for some of the work.  Obviously, I cannot go into too much detail because I cannot undermine the 

national negotiations.  It all comes down to the pay, training.  There were a lot of flaws found that would need 

to be addressed before we would even look at it, and things like that, but there is not a big appetite in London 

for co-responding at all.   

 

Andrew Dismore AM (Deputy Chair):  One of the issues was having to deal with distraught families.   

 

David Shek (Regional Secretary for London, Fire Brigades Union):  Yes, there were distraught families, 

shouts that in our opinion we should not have been sent on.  I will not go into details but there were quite a 

few issues with the trial.   

 

Andrew Dismore AM (Deputy Chair):  There were also issues on training and equipment? 

 

David Shek (Regional Secretary for London, Fire Brigades Union):  Yes, training and equipment, 

inoculations, everything.  Everything like that would have to have been addressed 100% before we would even 

consider it.  Obviously, as I said, we are still in the middle of national negotiations.   

 

Andrew Dismore AM (Deputy Chair):  OK.  From the LAS point of view? 

 

Kevin Canavan (Head of Collaboration, London Ambulance Service):  From an LAS perspective, getting 

to the sickest patients and administering the defibrillator has proven clinically over the years to produce good 

results.  The return of spontaneous circulation is one of the key measures in that.  Clinically, the best way to do 

that is by administering defibrillation as quickly as possible.  Whether that be delivered by an LAS member of 

staff, an MPS police officer or a firefighter is in my view neither here nor there, or indeed a member of the 

public.   

 

A personal example I will use is that my father lives 50 metres from Wimbledon Fire Station.  There are two 

appliances there with eight trained firefighters and two defibrillators on board.  He collapsed two years ago.  

Unfortunately, at that stage we were not in the business of co-responding.  I would ask the question as to why 

none of those trained firefighters with their defibrillators could not respond to a collapse that was 50 metres 

away.  If somebody knocked at a fire station door and said that somebody has collapsed outside, I am sure the 

firefighters would have no hesitation in responding to that patient.  I spent ten years as a firefighter myself 

with Surrey Fire and Rescue; I speak with a certain level of knowledge.  Preservation of life is a cornerstone of 

all three services.  That would be my challenge back to the FBU.   

 

Andrew Dismore AM (Deputy Chair):  Before we put the challenge to the FBU, I understand from what I 

have been reading in the press that the LAS is upping its game with different forms of response and so forth, 

people on motorbikes turning up to treat people on site rather than ferrying people to hospital and so forth.  Is 

that making a difference to your capacity to deal with these sorts of things? 

 

Kevin Canavan (Head of Collaboration, London Ambulance Service):  Our response has changed.  It has 

changed nationally.  We now have the Ambulance Response Programme that has seen changes to certain 

categories of calls into various different response outputs.  As you know, the LAS is one of the biggest and 

busiest ambulance services in the world and capacity has always been a challenge for us.  We are always 

looking at innovative ways to respond.  However, I think co-responding is an additional tool that we should not 

discard.  It is one that we should invest in significantly.   

 

DAC Matthew Twist (Transformation Directorate, Metropolitan Police Service):  It is fair to say from 

an MPS perspective we are signed up to that in terms of carrying defibrillators in our cars, being deployed to 

Page 27



 

 

cardiac arrest incidents by the LAS if we have the closest unit to deal.  I remember some of this discussion 

ten-plus years ago, if not more, around -- 

 

Andrew Dismore AM (Deputy Chair):  Before you go on, could I ask in practice how it works?  The way that 

co-responding with the LFB was working was that it was mobilised, directly or indirectly, by the LAS.  Was 

there the same relationship with the police or if you came across somebody you did it or were you mobilised? 

 

DAC Matthew Twist (Transformation Directorate, Metropolitan Police Service):  No, we can be 

notified.  We would be notified in the same way.  If there is that incident, we would attend.  Often at times the 

police happen to be attending anyway because often people dial the police or dial the ambulance at the same 

time.  We would be notified by the LAS and we would send the closest car with a defibrillator.   

 

I said I remember this discussion - it was over a decade ago when I was in firearms - as to whether or not we 

would want our armed response vehicles at the time attending medical emergencies.  There was lots of 

discussion, lots of debate as to whether that would move them away from their core purpose.  However, if the 

core purpose is to save life, which it is, and that is common throughout the three agencies, then once you 

reach that point the thing seems self-evident that if you can help, you should.  In that sense I am not saying 

the FBU is wrong, but what I am saying is as an agency, as a police service, if we can help, we should.  If we 

can help save someone’s life, we should.  I hope that would be echoed across the board.   

 

David Shek (Regional Secretary for London, Fire Brigades Union):  When the trial went on it was not 

just code reds we were going to.  We were going to all kinds of stuff during that trial, which brought up loads 

of issues and near misses and stuff.  I do understand what you are saying.  Should the ambulance be funded 

properly?  These are the simple questions that I would like to ask people that no one wants to really answer.  

Like I said, we are in national negotiations and our current position is we will look at the work if pay is 

addressed.  We would want training and we would want proper equipment.  It is very simple what we are asking 

for.   

 

Andrew Dismore AM (Deputy Chair):  Therefore, it is a standoff at the moment in that the Government will 

not give you a decent pay offer to do more work? 

 

David Shek (Regional Secretary for London, Fire Brigades Union):  It is exactly that.  It is also the work 

that it entails.  There is no clear definition of the work that people want us to do.  The last offer was an 

open-ended list of jobs that they want the fire service to do.  In fact, if you put “astronaut” and “brain 

surgeon” on it and put it out in April, I would probably laugh at it because it was ridiculous, the list that was 

there.  Until this is addressed, we are where we are, a standoff.   

 

Andrew Dismore AM (Deputy Chair):  Perhaps I could pass to our colleagues from Durham.  What happens 

in relation to co-responding in your neck of the woods? 

 

Councillor John Robinson (Chairman of Durham and Darlington Fire Authority and Emergency 

Services Collaboration Working Group):  We certainly, as I said earlier, were involved in the co-responding.  

To the point Kevin [Canavan] made, we had a man collapse with a heart attack right outside Darlington 

Station.  We went straight out, sorted it and there was massive publicity for the service when he came back 

with his family to say thank you.  During the trial, 3,000 directly called in and we saved more lives out of that 

trial than we did in the year from fire and so on.  We did that, but I have to respect the position of the FBU.  

They are in the middle of a vote.  I do have to say - and again you do not have it in London - we retained duty 

stations and the retained duty stations were up for it as well as the full-time.   

 

Page 28



 

 

Sarah Nattrass (Assistant Chief Fire Officer, Durham and Darlington Fire Authority):  The retained 

duty-system stations, we have three stations currently in the service and they continue, voluntarily, to carry 

out the co-responding role in line with the ambulance service.  Just to clarify the point, we received funding; it 

did not cost the ambulance service anything in County Durham and Darlington to carry out a co-responding 

trial as part of the National Joint Council for Fire and Rescue Services trial.   

 

It helped us also on some of the stations when the trial was ongoing on the whole-time stations.  It doubled 

the number of operational shouts that the crews were turned out to.  Therefore, it helped us to justify our 

response model in those station areas that were predominantly quiet, where the calls had reduced.  Our 

prevention and protection work over the years, which we have been really successful at, has been helping 

reduce the number of fires that we respond to.   

 

David Shek (Regional Secretary for London, Fire Brigades Union):  On that I would say that the stations 

are undermining the national negotiation at this moment in time because they should not be doing that work 

when we are clearly trying to establish how the work is defined.   

 

Gareth Bacon AM:  Saving people’s lives?  Sorry, I do not see the problem.   

 

Sarah Nattrass (Assistant Chief Fire Officer, Durham and Darlington Fire Authority):  It is done on a 

voluntary basis.   

 

Andrew Dismore AM (Deputy Chair):  The answer is to get the national dispute resolved to mutual 

satisfaction all round.   

 

David Shek (Regional Secretary for London, Fire Brigades Union):  Exactly.  We want to mutually work 

together but when things like that happen it undermines the whole national negotiation.   

 

Gareth Bacon AM:  I think it is a question of priorities, is it not, Chairman? 

 

Susan Hall AM (Chairman):  Yes, I think so.  I must say, every time I have met firefighters - and I have been 

to every fire station in London - they are such good people.  They are there and they want to help.  They want 

to be doing these things.  They want to be working alongside their colleagues.  That is what they have always 

told me.  I am sad to pick up here -- 

 

Andrew Dismore AM (Deputy Chair):  I picked up a different thing from firefighters I spoke to about 

co-responding.   

 

Gareth Bacon AM:  Equally, I did not.   

 

Andrew Dismore AM (Deputy Chair):  Anyway, the short answer is to resolve the dispute.   

 

David Shek (Regional Secretary for London, Fire Brigades Union):  Firefighters also want to put food on 

their table and pay their gas bills and everything, but we have been living on austerity.  We are 14% behind 

and we now have people wanting us to do work for free.   

 

Andrew Dismore AM (Deputy Chair):  The answer to this is not helping anyway, Chairman.   

 

Susan Hall AM (Chairman):  No, shall we stop there?  Carry on with your questions.   

 

Page 29



 

 

Andrew Dismore AM (Deputy Chair):  I will do.  That is what I was about to do.   

 

We talked about the forced entry issue earlier on and I do not think there is much more to ask about that, 

which was on my list.  The other thing I wanted to talk about was mental health issues.  I think 

Kevin [Canavan] was half hinting about this, and this is the data transfer, data availability or whatever.  If you 

are called to a fire and somebody has a mental health issue, presumably it would be in your interest to know on 

the way that you have a potential problem.  It is the same for the police, I suppose.  Is that something that can 

happen? 

 

Richard Mills (Assistant Commissioner, Operational Policy and Assurance, London Fire Brigade):  We 

always need to be mindful that we cannot account for the behaviour of people within any fire situation, 

whether that person is living there or a guest or not.  We do have processes in place for people who are 

particularly high risk, not necessarily through mental health, but that is very much done in collaboration and 

coordination with the MPS.  We work on what is called an underwrite system.  We make a note on our files for 

our fire crews to receive a caution.  Notwithstanding, we do have a duty to respond to that incident and make 

sure that the surrounding occupants and other occupants are safe and well.  Part of that key work, particularly 

when you talk about mental health, is in relation to the work that we do around dementia and how we 

recognise and treat people with dementia.   

 

It is also about the mental health of our firefighters as well.  One of the things that was mentioned earlier was 

about the trauma of meeting members of the family.  We recognised that there have been some significant 

events that have taken place, as well as co-responding.  We have looked at the mental health of our crews as 

well.  We work, as part of the blue light collaboration, with Mind, in partnership with them, to educate.  We are 

also doing computer-based training packages, or developing computer-based training packages, around 

mental health and wellbeing of our crews and also around mental health and awareness training for our 

officers.  That is people who are demonstrating stress and anxiety.  That will naturally transpose not only within 

the workforce but obviously with their engagement with the members of the public as well in quite traumatic 

events.   

 

We do a lot of work with the elderly as well, particularly, as I said, around dementia.  As a norm we will not 

necessarily be tagging people for mental health issues.  It is those that are particularly higher risk to crews.  

Crews are incredibly adaptable and very well trained and great at communicating with a whole broad range of 

the community.  They know that if they have any particular issue with an individual, if they have any particular 

safeguarding concerns due to the extent of the mental health, they know the processes under safeguarding of 

what they can do to call on help and assistance to come and support them in that environment.  Therefore, we 

are not sharing data at the granular level.   

 

Andrew Dismore AM (Deputy Chair):  Are you sharing with the other emergency services the work you do 

on the mental health support you give to firefighters?  I know when I went to the USAR training there was 

some grievance from some of the police people there that they were not getting the same support that the 

LFB had after [the] Grenfell [Tower fire], for example.   

 

Richard Mills (Assistant Commissioner, Operational Policy and Assurance, London Fire Brigade):  

Yes.  My apologies for not understanding the question entirely.   

 

Andrew Dismore AM (Deputy Chair):  It did not matter because I was going to ask it anyway.   

 

Richard Mills (Assistant Commissioner, Operational Policy and Assurance, London Fire Brigade):  

Yes, we do.  Obviously, our trauma team are working with other services.  Casualty and trauma services are 

Page 30



 

 

involved in peer-based trauma network with the LFB.  Volunteers are training in trauma support of blue light 

partners.  In addition to that we have the London Blue Light Network Steering Group, which has 

representation from blue light services and the mental health charity, Mind.  We are sharing our knowledge and 

experience.  Having sat on the Strategic Coordinating Group during the Grenfell [Tower fire], the conversation 

that was had very early on was what support our blue light partners could give us while that incident was 

running.  We recognised the mental health challenges that that would pose for our workforce very, very early 

on.  Thanks to the leadership of the Commissioner, we have taken that through and continue to do that for our 

workforce.   

 

Andrew Dismore AM (Deputy Chair):  The question was to what extent that learning has been passed on to 

the police in particular.  I think you heard the complaints as well.   

 

Richard Mills (Assistant Commissioner, Operational Policy and Assurance, London Fire Brigade):  I 

heard the conversation, yes, I did.   

 

Andrew Dismore AM (Deputy Chair):  That the police officers involved in the recovery -- 

 

Richard Mills (Assistant Commissioner, Operational Policy and Assurance, London Fire Brigade):  As 

I said, we have that network working group.  I am not at liberty to comment on how that then transposes 

through the MPS.  It would not be appropriate for me to say.   

 

DAC Matthew Twist (Transformation Directorate, Metropolitan Police Service):  I think the overall 

occupational health offer, and linked to that the mental health offer within the police, is something that has 

developed significantly since 2017 for a variety of reasons, [the] Grenfell [Tower fire] being one of them.  The 

issue of mental health and occupational health support is on the work plan for the Heads of People meeting 

that is one of our collaboration strands.  That is something we would look to, in the event of major incidents, 

to gather the support and experience and also some of the resource perhaps of our colleagues to support in 

the different sorts of incidents that we have.   

 

In terms of mental health more widely, the start of the question, it is well known the extent to which mental 

health places demand particularly on the police but also on the ambulance service.  This is a medical matter 

and the police are probably not the best people - nor, likewise, the LFB - to be dealing with it.  What we are 

looking at - again through the police transformation-funded work that we did around contact and response - 

was an outline design as to what a mental health hub could look like that would support London, hosted most 

likely by the LAS, gathering specialists together to provide a service that could support both police and the 

LFB in terms of responding to mental health, having that immediate access to clinical notes and having that 

immediate access to the information that would be required to enable risk assessments to take place.  Also, 

more from a policing perspective than perhaps LFB, getting the pathways into care so we are not bouncing 

around a number of clinical commissioning groups or bouncing around London waiting for availability of 

[Mental Health Act section] 136 suites, which is an issue that, from a policing perspective, is well rehearsed 

and well talked about.   

 

Kevin Canavan (Head of Collaboration, London Ambulance Service):  A couple of points there.  The 

three HR directors of the three services, Clare Davis from the MPS, Patricia Grealish from the LAS and Tim 

Powell from the LFB, have a workshop planned for Tuesday in two weeks’ time, I believe.  The whole focus of 

that workshop is around the wellbeing of our collective three services staff.  As has been discussed, after a 

large, serious or major incident we can rely upon each other to support each other in those times of extremis.  

That is very much on the top of the to-do list for the three HR directors, to get a cohesive, collaborative, 

Page 31



 

 

wellbeing strategy for police services staff and ensure we look after them.  That boosts the importance of 

looking after our staff.   

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  I would like to talk a bit about major, serious or catastrophic incidents or events.  Sadly, 

we had quite a number of examples during 2017.  Could I get you to comment on what progress has been 

made in recent years to ensure that London’s emergency services are working as effectively as possible 

together during those kinds of incidents?  I will start with the police.  If I start with you, Matthew.   

 

DAC Matthew Twist (Transformation Directorate, Metropolitan Police Service):  Thank you.  I think 

there are a number of different types of incidents and we have encountered several of them.  We had an 

exceptionally busy and difficult time during 2017 for a variety of reasons.  If we look at the terrorist attacks 

that we have had, I can start on that and maybe others will chip in with other incidents.  A significant amount 

of effort across all three services was done in terms of our preparatory work for responding to such attacks, 

and attacks of different descriptions.  That has ranged from the Boards that we sit on at that level, focusing 

specifically on our preparedness, to some of the tactics that we have used, to the actual physical exercising 

that we have done across all three of these services, and we continue to do so, and do so regularly.  Some of 

the stuff is not what I would want to discuss in a public forum, for the obvious reasons, but I would say in 

that -- 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  We have had some private briefings as well and we appreciate that you will not be able 

to go into all of the details.   

 

DAC Matthew Twist (Transformation Directorate, Metropolitan Police Service):  Brilliant.  In that area 

I would say our preparedness is country, if not world-leading, in terms of how we work together to deal with 

some of the most difficult terrorist-type attacks.  Clearly also we have had other major and significant incidents 

during this time.  London has suffered a number of things and we continue to work together to prepare for 

that sort of thing, whether it is through exercising or through our joint working.  I do not know if others want 

to comment.   

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  I thought after you perhaps Richard might wish to come in and make a comment on that 

as well.   

 

Richard Mills (Assistant Commissioner, Operational Policy and Assurance, London Fire Brigade):  

Certainly.  As well as obviously preparing and exercising, as you would expect, with any large-scale major 

incident there is a review after the event to look at what works well and areas we need to focus on, going 

forward.  That information is not only shared between organisations and between our partners, we also utilise 

that information to share it at a national level, the joint operational learning database that can be used, or 

national operational guidance, for the fire service, how that feeds into some of our practices.  There are 

examples where the recent events that have occurred are going through that.  It would not be appropriate to 

discuss them here now because it has to go through that scrutiny of that joint operational learning.   

 

That is all going through those systems, with the primary aim of not only improving what we do in the LFB and 

the London blue light service but how we then influence national and, if necessary, international learning 

around how we responded.  Nationally, people are looking at what London does, particularly with some of the 

traumatic events that have taken place, but also internationally as well.  There are clear systems in place.  The 

Central Programme Office and National Operational Guidance sits within London and is headed by Susan 

[Ellison-Bunce], and that is all about working as a collaborative piece to the betterment of all services.   

 

Page 32



 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  Can I see if Kevin wants to add anything to that from the ambulance perspective?  That 

has given us quite an interesting view there from the police and the brigade.   

 

Kevin Canavan (Head of Collaboration, London Ambulance Service):  I obviously concur with my two 

colleagues, and the advent of the JESIP principles that are now well embedded across all three services has 

served to ensure that collaboration works well in the operational arena.  JESIP continues to be rolled out and 

improved.  As learnings from incidents happens, we will obviously adopt and continue to improve our 

operational response.   

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  I am going to ask you something about [the] Grenfell [Tower fire] and whether there has 

been some learning from this.  I am hoping that this is something that you will feel able to answer.  It has been 

brought to our attention that there was some evidence of different control rooms responding on the night 

from the police and ambulance to people in the tower, rather than just going through to the LFB.  Is there any 

learning that we can take from that and is that something that the LFB would be leading on? 

 

Richard Mills (Assistant Commissioner, Operational Policy and Assurance, London Fire Brigade):  I 

do not have any of those details to hand.  What I will need to do is go away and find out the specifics and seek 

some advice as to whether it is appropriate to release that information currently, because obviously we would 

not want to prejudice any inquiry taking place.   

 

On the broader question that you asked around operational learning, with every incident that we attend we 

learn.  We have processes in place internally through our performance review of operations and performance 

review command.  There is a lot of work, particularly in my current role, that we are doing based on that 

learning.  A tangible example of that specifically is around working in smoke-filled environments and 

fire-escape hoods.  That has demonstrated a benefit to the community and we are sharing that learning with 

national fire services.   

 

The very short answer is of course we will take away and learn from what we know now and obviously what 

may come out of the interim guidance and recommendations from phase one.  We are very mindful of phase 

two of the inquiry and the process that takes place and what those subsequent recommendations may have for 

not only the LFB but also the National Fire Service.  We need to recognise, specifically in relation to 

collaboration, what the benefits and the challenges are that some of those recommendations may have for us 

as a collective around collaboration going forward.  We recognise there is work to be done.  While we will 

continue to work that way, we remain open minded to whatever the inquiry will give.   

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  A similar question for you, Matthew, as well, also from [the] Grenfell [Tower fire].  It is 

my understanding that the police declared a major incident and the LFB were not immediately aware that that 

was the case.  Is there some learning that can be taken from that as well to stop that from happening in similar 

circumstances, should they ever arise in the future? 

 

DAC Matthew Twist (Transformation Directorate, Metropolitan Police Service):  I am not able to 

comment specifically on [the] Grenfell [Tower fire], which is subject to inquiry; therefore, I will not do that.  

However, what I will say is like my colleague from the LFB I have never dealt with any incident where there has 

not been some learning.  That is indicative of the jobs that we do.  There is always going to be learning out of 

everything that we do.  The culture of debrief and learning is one that we are very keen and work hard to 

embed.  If there is learning to be taken out of a specific incident that comes through the recommendations of 

the properly appointed body, then absolutely we would look at that and look at how we could either assist, 

lead, develop, change in whatever context we would find ourselves in.  In terms of that specific incident, I do 

Page 33



 

 

not have the information and I do not think I feel comfortable commenting now, only because it is subject to 

all the reviews ongoing.   

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  It is also obvious with the Grenfell [Tower] incident, and I think a lot of other incidents, 

that you are not just needing to collaborate with each other in the blue light services, you need to collaborate 

with the local authority in the area where you are.  Obviously in the case of [the] Grenfell [Tower fire] there 

was also the Kensington and Chelsea Tenant Management Organisation (TMO).  I have watched some of the 

inquiry evidence and it seems that there were several quite long periods of time where there was not sufficient 

contact going on between the Local Authority Liaison Officer and others over the plans of the building, who 

was in each flat and so on and so forth.  Is a review of that collaboration with other public bodies also taking 

place? 

 

Richard Mills (Assistant Commissioner, Operational Policy and Assurance, London Fire Brigade):  

Again, it would not be appropriate for me comment because obviously it is an ongoing investigation and public 

inquiry.  The thing around collaboration is we have the London Resilience Forum.   

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  Can I just say it does seem like an obvious and necessary thing to do?  I represent a 

borough where we have 99 blocks - and that is just one of the two boroughs I represent - that are over ten 

stories.  If I go and talk to the Borough Commanders, I know that they do have routes on and off estates where 

many blocks can be found.  I would hope that building up those relationships across London in all of the 

boroughs is something that has perhaps started to be looked at sooner rather than waiting until the end of the 

Grenfell [Tower] inquiry.  Could I just put that out there?  David [Shek] was talking about safety earlier on.  

This is not just for safety for members of the public, it is also safety for getting machinery and also people from 

the brigade on and off estates as quickly as possible.   

 

Richard Mills (Assistant Commissioner, Operational Policy and Assurance, London Fire Brigade):  

Not answering specifically the Grenfell [Tower] question? 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  No, broaden it out, please.   

 

Richard Mills (Assistant Commissioner, Operational Policy and Assurance, London Fire Brigade):  

Broadening it out, absolutely.  The previous Scrutiny Committee talked about fire safety and the work they are 

doing, and the fact that we have had crews going out and looking at various estates, various high-rise blocks.  

We are not going to sit and wait for the outcomes of the inquiry because we absolutely recognise that there is 

work to be done in the meantime.  I know of Borough Commanders I have spoken to who are having those 

conversations with local authorities.   

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  Jointly with the police and the LAS as well? 

 

Richard Mills (Assistant Commissioner, Operational Policy and Assurance, London Fire Brigade):  

Absolutely.   

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  Because it has to be done jointly.   

 

Richard Mills (Assistant Commissioner, Operational Policy and Assurance, London Fire Brigade):  

Yes, absolutely.  The relationship at Borough Commander level is very, very strong.  It does depend on the 

relationships within those individual boroughs, but I am confident that Borough Commanders are linking in 

with their Borough Commander police colleagues and local authorities.   

 

Page 34



 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  Matthew, you wanted to come in as well? 

 

DAC Matthew Twist (Transformation Directorate, Metropolitan Police Service):  Yes.  On that, some 

of the work we have done through the Transformation Fund, the outlying case and high-level design around a 

concept of a London Emergency Services Coordination Centre (ESCC).  What that recognised, that strategic 

outlying case, was that there are a lot of incidents every day, fortunately nowhere near on the scale that we 

have seen in 2017, where there is a multiagency response required.  What we did see, through generic learning 

not through specific incidents, was there was a delay at times in terms of different agencies having the same 

information, because different things come into different control rooms at different times and that is again not 

related to one incident but is something that we have seen.   

 

The recommendation that came out of the strategic outlying case was for a joint London ESCC where leaders 

from each of the services would be co-located to provide a very swift transfer of information on the incidents 

where we respond daily, as well as the major critical, significant incidents, some of which we have alluded to 

already.  That work has reached the high-level design stage and the next step is that there is a funding 

application for further money into the Police Transformation Fund.  Decisions on that are expected shortly to 

take the work to the next stage, which will be to an outlying business case and a detailed design.  That is 

linked to the work I have touched on already around the mental health hub, optimising cross-service 

information transfer, MAIT hub and that sort of thing.   

 

There are five key strands to that and jointly we have sought further funding to develop that work.  If that 

funding is not forthcoming, we will have to look within ourselves as to what we think is really important and 

what we can fund within existing resources.  That process has not yet started, but I think all of the things we 

identified that were agreed at the strategic level across all three services are things that we think would be of 

use to London, of use to the public and benefit the services collectively.   

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  It is good to hear that thought is going in and let us hope that goes ahead.  I want to 

ask a point in relation to the changes to the Basic Command Unit (BCU) strategy.  Richard was making a very 

good point.  I am certainly very aware that my Borough Commanders have excellent relationships locally, but 

obviously there has been no change in the Fire Service Borough Commanders, whereas, of course in the police 

there has been quite a substantial change.  Has that impacted on progress in those areas that you were just 

outlining?  There is no chance of it being side-lined in some way while the BCU Commanders are forging ahead 

with those changes? 

 

DAC Matthew Twist (Transformation Directorate, Metropolitan Police Service):  I do not think so.  I 

think the role of the BCU Commanders is now getting more and more well established.  The first pathfinder 

sites were many, many months ago now and we have now gone live across all 12 BCUs.  The building of local 

relationships is going to be critically important to that.  At the moment my instinct is no, that will not change 

across our desire to collaborate at a local level as well as at a pan-London level, which is the sort of things that 

we are looking at through this high-level design.   

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  What about relationships with -- talking about the public services working with local 

authorities?  Obviously in some boroughs, for example, all of the housing stock has been outsourced either to 

an arms-length management organisation or a TMO or in many cases they have transferred the stock to some 

sort of registered social landlord, some of which are now very large and operate across many London boroughs.  

Have you made special efforts to build up working relationships with them, again to make sure you have full 

information from them on routes on to estates, location of dry risers, whatever the information is that is 

needed? 

 

Page 35



 

 

Richard Mills (Assistant Commissioner, Operational Policy and Assurance, London Fire Brigade):  

Part of the duty of firefighters and Borough Commanders is to go and due familiarisation visits of premises that 

are deemed of particular interest around operational activity.  Part of that will be looking at access, part of that 

will be looking at where the dry risers are.  Some of them will have a premises information box, and they will be 

checking the plan to get an understanding of the building.  In relation to the building itself, obviously when 

they are doing an inspection of the building they will be looking at what are the concerns within that building, 

are there any particular issues around fire doors, for example.  They will be feeding that back to the Station 

Manager and to Borough Commander to identify who the occupier of the owner of the building is.  That is 

when we start to have those wider conversations.   

 

There has been work done with some of the major building providers.  It is not always easy to identify who 

owns particular buildings, which proves a challenge in itself.  That is why we get the firefighters to go and look 

at buildings of particular interest, to start familiarising themselves and talking about the firefighting tactics 

they may need to use should they get an event.   

 

One of the focuses will be very much around - whatever that premises is, whether it is a high-rise or not - the 

occupants themselves.  How do we make the occupant as safe as possible with advice, with the fitting of 

smoke alarms, for example, given the home fire safety visits?  It is a broad suite of how we start to identify not 

only the people within the building, it is also about how they are going to tackle that building.  Can I honestly 

put my hand on my heart and say that we will always be able to identify a building and the owner of that 

building?  No, I cannot, but what I can say is that Borough Commanders are very, very proactive in working 

with the local authority and working with the local community to look at how best to respond to that building 

and, if there are issues, if there is a managing agent, how do we best link into that managing agent.   

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  Thank you.  I want to ask a little bit about collaboration on preparation.  Obviously one 

of the things we hope we do not need to prepare for, but it is possible it could happen are things like a 

widespread drought or widespread flooding or things like that relating to climate change, if you like, those 

kinds of chronic risks.  Is that something that is being worked on jointly as well? 

 

Richard Mills (Assistant Commissioner, Operational Policy and Assurance, London Fire Brigade):  

Specifically, in relation to flooding, there is a project currently running.  It is part of our London Safety Plan 

commitment.  Within that it talks about our response and provision to Londoners around flood assets.  That is 

working in collaboration with the Environment Agency.  Also, the capability that is being designed and 

developed and is being offered up is around our swift-water capability as a national asset but also an asset on 

the Thames.  We work with the Royal National Lifesaving Institution very closely on that as an emergency 

responder.  We also have national assets that we contain within London: the high-volume pumps around 

flooding.  There is a considerable amount of work that we have always done and we are developing further as 

part of our London safety plan commitment.  When we talk about drought -- 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  Is that individually as the fire service or is that in conjunction with police and also 

ambulance? 

 

Richard Mills (Assistant Commissioner, Operational Policy and Assurance, London Fire Brigade):  

Around the flooding element it is more so around the Environment Agency and working with the Hazardous 

Area Response Team (HART), who have a swift-water capability.  Less so with the MPS in relation to their 

capability and what we would be asking them to do.  It is more about containment, removal and rescue that we 

would focus on, hence us drawing on some of the capabilities of HART.  Of course, in a flooding incident we 

would naturally work with police around whatever zone or area that may be, around any evacuation plan, and 

Page 36



 

 

we have demonstrated that very clearly in the Kenley Waterworks flooding, where we operated very effectively 

as a team.   

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  And drought? 

 

Richard Mills (Assistant Commissioner, Operational Policy and Assurance, London Fire Brigade):  

Yes, in relation to droughts -- 

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  Everyone picks up their glass of water immediately.   

 

Richard Mills (Assistant Commissioner, Operational Policy and Assurance, London Fire Brigade):  

Last year was particularly challenging around the drought.  We provided a response nationally to support the 

drought nationally as well.  We recognise it is a growing challenge to us within the LFB in particular.  We are 

working more with local authorities around their open spaces, around cutting the grass shorter, firebreaks.  All 

those conversations we are having much more at a local level.  In relation to LAS and police response, less so.  

When you talk about collaboration, yes.  If you are talking about blue light collaboration, not as extensive.   

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  Any preparations in collaboration for Brexit, which may or may not happen?  Who knows 

what is happening on that front?  Is that something that you are preparing for, in case there is some sort of 

unrest, either because it goes ahead or it does not go ahead? 

 

Kevin Canavan (Head of Collaboration, London Ambulance Service):  I think I can speak confidently.  All 

three agencies have invested time and energy should Brexit arise.  One area specifically as an example is 

around fuel.  Should there be fuel disruption, all three agencies have worked together to work up and further 

consolidate our already well-established plans around fuel disruption that we had in place following the last 

fuel strikes some time ago.   

 

Leonie Cooper AM:  Finally, Her Majesty's Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire & Rescue Services 

(HMICFRS) has done an assessment of the JESIP, that, “Interoperability has yet to be fully embedded across 

the services”.  Would you agree with that and, if you did agree with it, how much do you think it can be 

improved and what would it look like if it was completely successfully implemented?     

 

Susan Ellison-Bunce (Assistant Director Strategy and Risk, London Fire Brigade):  JESIP has been in 

operation extensively across London.  Colleagues have mentioned already how we train, and we continue to 

train under the JESIP principles to ensure our readiness for a multiagency attack.  There are always difficulties 

and challenges in terms of availability of time, capacity for that kind of training.  Despite all that, that training 

does go ahead and it proves very useful.  I am not entirely sure that we would agree with the Inspectorate, but 

let’s see.  It is coming to us in July [2019].  Let’s see if it reaches the same conclusion in London.  I hope it 

does not.   

 

Richard Mills (Assistant Commissioner, Operational Policy and Assurance, London Fire Brigade):  A 

really clear example of London’s commitment is Exercise Unified Response that took place, a multiagency, 

multinational exercise.  As my colleagues have said, we already regularly exercise through a whole host of risks 

and threats that may be posed.  On the Incident Ground we demonstrate that and some of the reviews should 

hopefully, over time, demonstrate how effective our responses have been to various incidents that took place 

last year [2018].   

 

Susan Hall AM (Chairman):  A final question.  Looking to the future, what are the next steps to increase 

collaboration and is there anything that the Mayor could do to be helpful towards increasing collaboration?   

Page 37



 

 

 

Kevin Canavan (Head of Collaboration, London Ambulance Service):  Collaboration is not going to go 

away.  In terms of increasing collaboration, I think it is a slow burn.  I think it is wherever you shine the light in 

any of the three organisations.   

 

Susan Hall AM (Chairman):  Tell us from the LAS.  I do not think they use ‘slow burn’ in the LFB as an 

analogy.   

 

Kevin Canavan (Head of Collaboration, London Ambulance Service):  Yes.  As I say, it is not going to go 

away.  We will continue to collaborate and where we can seek out efficiently and effectiveness, we will do.   

 

DAC Matthew Twist (Transformation Directorate, Metropolitan Police Service):  For me it is about all 

of us maintaining the view on the best outcomes for the public.  That is where we will achieve.  If we focus on 

that, the collaboration seems easier sometimes.  Going to the point around HMICFRS, I hope I have a high 

degree of confidence that in terms of our interoperability in London, as I said earlier, I feel that some of the 

things that we do, some of the capabilities that we have, some of the things that we have done make us not 

only UK leading but world leading in some areas.   

 

In the short to medium-term for us it is looking at the outcome of the work that we did through the Police 

Transformation Fund, through looking at whether we can develop the ESCC, the pan-London mental health 

hub, optimising cross-service referrals and the other work that we have not spoken about today but that is 

important, around frequent callers, to enable us to have reduced demand, particularly across LAS and LFB, and 

finally estates, which are the five areas of work that we identified in the high-level design that we would be 

eager to take forward.   

 

The funding for that work is at the moment in the balance.  There were huge demands this year on the Police 

Transformation Fund.  Whether we are successful in our bid to take that to the next step is as yet unknown.  

What I do know is there is an awful lot of demand on a small pot of money.  If we do not get that, it will be for 

the three services to come together to see what elements, whether there is money elsewhere that could be put 

towards different strands of this or whatever elements we would want to progress through a business-as-usual 

route.   

 

That is where I see our focus in the next three to six months.   

 

Susan Hall AM (Chairman):  Thank you.  David, I know your views.  Do you have anything to add? 

 

David Shek (Regional Secretary for London, Fire Brigades Union):  No, just that we have the national 

negotiation going on at the minute.   

 

Susan Ellison-Bunce (Assistant Director Strategy and Risk, London Fire Brigade):  I think one of the 

things that we will be looking at is obviously all the areas of the strategic intention, as outlined by the three 

Chiefs, and seeing what we can take forward under each of those headings, in particular thinking about 

strategic alignment across the three organisations.  We have our separate strategic objectives, we have our 

separate core responsibilities, but understanding what we have in common and identifying the opportunities to 

deliver better services for London within that I think is going to be the primary objective.   

 

Richard Mills (Assistant Commissioner, Operational Policy and Assurance, London Fire Brigade):  I 

tend to agree with Susan around the strategic alignment.  What is key is where are the overlaps, where can we 

do the maximum benefit for Londoners and look at what the key priorities going forward are.  There is a lot of 

Page 38



 

 

very good work taking place but it does come back to what are the key ones that we can all maximise our 

benefits from.   

 

We need to be mindful around the Inspectorate that has just been mentioned, about what are the 

recommendations coming out of the inspectorate.  Tranche one has been published and tranche two is going 

to be published in the next couple of months.  We are part of tranche three.  We need to take into 

consideration what that may look like around collaboration, not only for London but from a national 

perspective.  Then obviously the Transformation Fund the police have made mention to.  Some of the things 

that we may want to do will be very much subject to what will be funded and what will not be funded and what 

are the benefits it will have.  Then how does that not only support us but also increase our resilience as the 

three blue light services going forward.  That does come absolutely back to the statement made around what 

has happened wide of the strategic objective that we all work to.   

 

Susan Hall AM (Chairman):  [Councillor] John [Robinson], I am mindful I am asking about London because 

clearly, we are here.  Do you have anything you would like to add? 

 

Councillor John Robinson (Chairman of Durham and Darlington Fire Authority and Emergency 

Services Collaboration Working Group):  I would like to see the Mayor come out and show support for it, 

say that he is supporting it.  I totally agree with Richard about the Transformation Fund.  That is where we are 

going for the capital.  As the blue light services, we need to work more together to put together bids for that 

to get more success.  I think we need to monitor what we are doing.  We need to monitor the successes, 

monitor the failures.  We should be publicising to the public that we are working together, that we are one 

blue light service working together.  We need to start involving the staff, the unions and the public more in 

what we are doing, because it is a positive approach and we need to sell it more.   

 

Susan Hall AM (Chairman):  I could not agree more.   

 

Sarah Nattrass (Assistant Chief Fire Officer, Durham and Darlington Fire Authority):  Going back to 

my initial points, we need strategic buy-in, we need to be driven by the top to that strategic direction.  We 

have to have a willing partner to start off the collaboration discussions.  It initially takes a lot of time and 

resource to develop collaboration and come up with collaboration opportunities and then implement them.  I 

go back to our strategy that we have in place.  Make sure that you have things that are tangible.  Will it 

produce quantifiable efficiencies, improved services to the community and also reduce our demand on our 

services that we have, because in these austere times we are now cutting back.   

 

To concur with John’s point, capital funding is no longer in place.  We do rely on Transformation funding or 

generating efficiency savings and opportunities through collaboration to help us fund our organisations and be 

more efficient.   

 

Susan Hall AM (Chairman):  Lovely, thank you.  Can I say a big thank you to all of you for all of your 

contributions?  I would like to particularly single out you two for coming all the way down from Durham.  We 

are very grateful.  It is so good for all of us, is it not, to hear how very well this works for you and your 

positivity around it.  Thank you all for that.   

 

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 40



                                                                      

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

 

Subject: Summary List of Actions 

Report to: Fire, Resilience and Emergency Planning Committee  
 
Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 23 May 2019 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
1. Summary  
 
1.1 This report sets out details of actions arising from previous meetings of the Fire, Resilience and 

Emergency Planning Committee.  

 

 

2. Recommendation 

 
2.1 That the Committee notes the completed and ongoing actions arising from previous 

meetings of the Committee. 

 

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 28 March 2019 

 

Agenda 

Item 

Topic Status For action by 

5. Emergency Services Collaboration  

 

During the course of the discussion the Committee 

requested that the Assistant Commissioner, 

Operational Policy and Assurance, London Fire 

Brigade (LFB), provide further information on 

details of operational learning that has been 

implemented following evidence that different 

control rooms responded to calls from the Grenfell 

Tower Fire, rather than calls being directed 

straight to the LFB Control Room. 

 

That authority be delegated to the Chairman, in 

consultation with the party Group Lead Members, 

to agree any output from the meeting. 

 

 
 
 
Completed. 
Attached at 
Appendix 1  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Ongoing 

 

 

Assistant 

Commissioner, 

Operational Policy 

and Assurance, 

LFB 

 

 

 

 

 

Senior Policy 

Adviser 

 

 

 

 

Page 41

Agenda Item 7



 

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 22 November 2018 

 

Agenda 

Item 

Topic Status For action by 

5. Resilience and Emergency Planning  

That authority be delegated to the Chairman, in 

consultation with the party Group Lead Members, 

to agree any output from the meeting. 

 
 
Ongoing 

 

 

Senior Policy 

Adviser 

 

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 10 October 2018 

 

Agenda 
Item 

Topic Status For action by 

5. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Q&A with the Deputy Mayor for Fire and 

Resilience and the London Fire Commissioner 

 

The Deputy Mayor for Fire and Resilience agreed 

to consider which political parties had pledged to 

put sprinklers into tower blocks in the run up to 

the 2018 London Local Elections and any follow 

up work to be undertaken with individual 

boroughs. 

 
 
 
 
Ongoing 

 

 

 

Deputy Mayor for 

Fire and Resilience 

 

Actions arising from the Committee meeting on 19 July 2018 

 

Agenda 

Item 

Topic Status For action by 

6. 

 

 

 

Fire Safety Post-Grenfell 

That authority be delegated to the Chairman, in 

consultation with the party Group Lead Members, 

to agree any output from the meeting. 

 
 
Ongoing 

 

 

Senior Policy 

Adviser 

  

 

 

3. Legal Implications 
 

3.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

4. Financial Implications 
 

4.1 There are no financial implications to the GLA arising from this report. 

 

 

Page 42



 

List of appendices to this report:  

Appendix 1 – Letter from Deputy Commissioner and Director of Safety and Assurance – 24 April 2019 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer: Jonathan Baker, Committee Officer 

Telephone: 020 7084 2825 

E-mail: jonathan.baker@london.gov.uk  

 

Page 43

mailto:jonathan.baker@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 44



mom 
LONDON f hl£ BR!l.;\fJt 

London Fire Sngade Meadquarters 
169 Union Street london SE1 OLL 

T02085551200x30021 F02079603602 
T extphone 020 7960 3629 
www.lot1don-füe.gov.uk 

.,1 · 24 April 2019 

Susan Hall AM 
Chairman of the Fire, Resilience and Emergency Planning Committee 

Dear Chairman, 

Fire Resilience and Emergency Planning Committee Meeting - 28 March 2019 

Following the London Assembly's Fire. Resilience and Emergency Planning Committee meeting on blue 
light collaboration on 28 March 2019. you requested some further information (in your letter dated 11 
April 2019) as follows: 

Further information on details of operational learning that has been implemented following 
evidence that different control rooms responded to calls from the Grenfell Tower Fire, rather 
than calls being directed straight to the LFB Control Room 

As I stated in the meeting on 28 March, I was unsure whether I would be able to provide any further 
information on this matter as it may prejudice the Grenfell Inquiry. I am writing to confirm that I cannot 
provide any further details at this time. 

I understand that this may be a disappointing response. As such, I would be happy to have telephone 
conversation with yourselfon this matter at your convenience, if that would be helpful. 

Richard Mills 
Deputy Commissioner and Director of Safety and Assurance 
London Fire Brigade 

CC: Janette Roker. FREP Scrutiny Manager: janette.roker@gla.gov.uk 

Appendix 1

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 46



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: London Safety Plan 
 

Report to: Fire, Resilience and Emergency Planning Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 
 

Date: 23 May 2019 

 
This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  

 

1.1 This report provides background information to the Fire, Resilience and Emergency Planning 

Committee for its meeting with the Deputy Mayor for Fire and Resilience and the London Fire 

Commissioner to discuss the London Safety Plan.    

 

 

2. Recommendations 

 

2.1 That the Committee agree the areas for consideration as set out in paragraph 4.1 of the 

report. 

 

2.2 That the Committee notes the report as background to the question and answer session 

with the Deputy Mayor for Fire and Resilience and the London Fire Commissioner on the 

London Safety Plan and notes the subsequent discussion.  

 

2.3 That authority be delegated to the Chair, in consultation with party Group Lead Members, 

to agree any output from the meeting. 

 

 
3. Background  

 

3.1 The Government’s Fire and Rescue National Framework for England sets out its priorities and 

objectives for fire authorities.1 The framework requires every Fire and Rescue Service (FRS) to 

produce an Integrated Risk Management Plan (IRMP). Each plan must outline “all foreseeable fire 

and rescue related risks; how the service will allocate resources across prevention, protection and 

response; required service delivery outcomes, including resource allocation for mitigating risks; and 

its management strategy and risk-based programme for enforcing the provisions of the Regulatory 

Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005.”2  

 

3.2 The London Safety Plan (LSP) is the London Fire Brigade’s (LFB) IRMP. It was agreed by the 

London Fire and Emergency Planning Authority (LFEPA) on 30 March 2017. It sets out how the 

London Fire Commissioner (LFC) will operate its services and outlines the targets set for the delivery 

                                                 
1
 Home Office, Fire and Rescue National Framework for England, May 2018 

2
 HMICFRS, Integrated risk management plan, last updated 7 December 2018 

Page 47

Agenda Item 8

https://www.london-fire.gov.uk/media/2189/london-safety-plan-2017.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/705060/National_Framework_-_final_for_web.pdf
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/integrated-risk-management-plan-irmp/


        

of those services. The LSP states: “One of the most important things this plan must do is to set out 

how the LFB will manage risks to communities in London along with making a contribution to 

national, cross-border, and multi-agency incidents.”3  

 

3.3 The LFC’s immediate, medium and longer-term priorities are outlined in the LSP. It highlights how 

the LFC “plans to deliver and shape services to provide London with a world class fire and rescue 

service […] The Brigade wants London to be the safest global city, and this plan sets out how the 

Brigade will contribute to that ambition over the next four years.”4  
 

3.4 The work of the LFB is broadly delivered under three strategic aims:  
 

(1) Prevention and Protection;  

(2) Response and Resilience; and  

(3) People and Resources.  

 

It also has a set of principles that underpin everything the Brigade does: inclusion; safety; 

sustainability; accountability; and collaboration.  

4. Issues for Consideration 

4.1 This meeting will be used to consider the LSP and progress against its commitments, just over two 

years on from its publication. The purpose of the meeting will be to assess and consider whether it is 

still fit for purpose. Discussion is likely to focus on:  

 Key challenges for the LFB; 

 Progress made against the commitments made in the LSP; 

 Business and change activities taking place within the Brigade; and 

 Additional demands on the LFB post-Grenfell. 

 

4.2 Invited guests include:  

 Fiona Twycross AM, Deputy Mayor for Fire and Resilience; and 

 Dany Cotton QFSM, London Fire Commissioner. 

 

 
5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 
 
 
6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 
 

 

 

                                                 
3
 London Fire Brigade, London Safety Plan, March 2017 

4
 London Fire Brigade, London Safety Plan, March 2017 

Page 48

https://www.london-fire.gov.uk/media/2189/london-safety-plan-2017.pdf
https://www.london-fire.gov.uk/media/2189/london-safety-plan-2017.pdf


        

 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:  None 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

Contact Officer: Janette Roker, Senior Policy Adviser  

Telephone: 020 7983 6562 

E-mail: Janette.roker@london.gov.uk 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 50



 

                                                                    

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Reserves Strategy and Medium Term 
Financial Plan for the London Fire 
Commissioner 
Report to: Fire, Resilience and Emergency Planning Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of the Secretariat 

 
Date:  
23 May 2019 
 

This report will be considered in public 
  
 
 
1. Summary  
 
1.1 This report serves as background information to the Fire, Resilience and Emergency Planning 

Committee for consideration of the Reserves Strategy and Medium Term Financial Plan for the 

London Fire Commissioner, which the Committee is required to review and make a report or 

recommendations to the Mayor.  

 
   
2. Recommendation  
 

2.1 That the Committee reviews the London Fire Commissioner’s Reserves Strategy and 

Medium Term Financial Plan. 

2.2 That the Committee make a report or recommendation(s) to the Mayor on the Reserves 

Strategy and Medium Term Financial Plan, in accordance with Section 327I of the Policing 

and Crime Act 2017. 

 

3. Background   
 
3.1 The London Fire Commissioner is required to publish a Reserves Strategy and Medium Term 

Financial Plan as part of the Fire and Rescue National Framework. In accordance with Section 327G 

of the Policing and Crime Act 2017, the Commissioner must, before publishing the document, which 

is in accordance with the Fire and Rescue National Framework, send a copy of the documents or 

revision in draft, to the Mayor and Assembly. A copy of the letter sent to the Chair on 10 May 2019 

can be found at Appendix 1, a copy of the Reserves Strategy and be found at Appendix 2, and a 

copy of the Medium Term Financial Plan can be found at Appendix 3.  

 

3.2 In accordance with Section 327I of the Policing and Act 2017, under the functions to be discharged 

by the fire and emergency committee (the Fire, Resilience and Emergency Planning Committee), the 

Assembly must review any draft document or revision given to the Assembly by the London Fire 

Commissioner under section 327G and make a report or recommendations on the draft document or 

Page 51

Agenda Item 9



        

revision to the Mayor. This role cannot be delegated as it forms part of the “special scrutiny 

functions” as noted in the GLA Standing Orders 10.1G.  

 
4. Issues for Consideration  
 

4.1 That the Committee receives and considers the Reserves Strategy and Medium Term Financial Plan 

for the London Fire Commissioner.  

4.2 The Committee must make a report or recommendation(s) on the Reserves Strategy and Medium 

Term Financial Plan to the Mayor. As the role of the Fire, Resilience and Emergency Planning 

Committee cannot be delegated, if the Committee are minded to make a report to the Mayor this 

will need to be brought back to the next meeting. If the Committee are minded to make a 

recommendation(s) to the Mayor, which can include noting the reports, this will be sent in the form 

of a letter from the Chair and will need to be agreed at the meeting. 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 
5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

6. Financial Implications 
 
6.1 There are no financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 

 

 

List of appendices to this report: 

 
Appendix 1 – Letter from the London Fire Commissioner to the Chair – 10 May 2019 
Appendix 2 – Reserves Strategy  
Appendix 3 – Medium Term Financial Plan 
 
 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: 

None 

 

Contact Officer: Jonathan Baker, Committee Officer  

Telephone: 020 7084 2825 

E-mail: Jonathan.baker@london.gov.uk  

 

Page 52

mailto:Jonathan.baker@london.gov.uk


1111m 
LONDON FIRE BRIGADE 

London Fire Bngade Headquarters 
169 Union Street London SEl OLL 
T 020 85551200 F 020 7960 3602 

T extphone 020 7960 3629 
london-ñre.gov.uk 

Andrew Dismore (FREP Chairman) 
Fire, Resilience and Emergency Planning committee 
City Hall 
The Queen's Walk 
London 
SE1 2AA 

The London Fife Cornrrns.s,onor is the 
fire and rescue au1hori1y fo, London 

Date 10 May 2019 

Dear Andrew Dismore 

LFC Reserves Strategy and Medium Term Financial Plan 
The purpose of this letter is to provide the Fire Resilience and Emergency Planning (FREP) Committee 
with a copy of the Reserves Strategy and Medium Term Financial Plan for the London Fire 
Commissioner (LFC) for review and consideration. This will ensure that the LFC complies with 
relevant governance reporting requirements. 

On the 8 May 2018 the Home Office published its updated fire and rescue national framework, which 
set out the Government's priorities and objectives for fire and rescue authorities (FRAs). The 
framework sets out the documents each FRA is required to produce which includes an integrated risk 
management plan (the London Safety Plan). an annual statement of assurance (published in April 
2019) and its financial plans including an efficiency plan (published in 2016 covering the period up to 
2020), a medium term financial strategy and a reserves strategy. 

As part of the 2019/20 Budget Process a reserves strategy and medium term financial plan were 
prepared in accordance with the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) 
guidance, to assist in decision making and the ultimate approval of the 2019/20 Budget for the 
London Fire Commissioner (LFC). Draft versions of these documents were included in both the 
November 2018 Budget Submission to the Mayor and also the final 2019/20 Budget Report. 

As these documents formed part of the approved budget submission to the Mayor they have already 
been provided to the London Assembly and been subject to scrutiny by the Budget and Performance 
Committee, but have not yet been reviewed by FREP or formally been approved by the Mayor. 

As a result I am now requesting that the FREP Committee review and consider those two documents, 
which are attached to this letter. These documents will also be submitted to the Mayor for approval. I 
would also be grateful if any concerns or questions identified as a result of that review are provided to 
me for consideration as part of the budget process 2020/21. 

Appendix 1

Page 53



ln future it is my intention that these documents can be specifically provided to the FREP Committee 
for consideration as part of the LFC's budget submission to the Mayor. 

Yours sincerely 

any Cotton 
London Fire Commissioner 

Page 54



Reserves Strategy 
2019/20 

25 April 2019 

Appendix 2

Page 55



Page 2 

Contents 

Reserves Strategy 2019/20 ...................................................................................... 1 

Introduction ............................................................................................................................ 3 

Robustness of Estimates ........................................................................................................... 3 

Reserves and General Balances ................................................................................................. 3 

Statement of Reserve Policy...................................................................................................... 3 

Conclusion ............................................................................................................................. 6 

Details of Reserves .................................................................................................................. 7 

 

Page 56



Page 3 

Introduction 

1. In setting the London Fire Commissioner’s (LFC) budget for the 2019/20 financial year, due 
consideration was given to both the robustness of the estimates used in preparing that 
budget and also the adequacy of the LFC’s reserve levels. This report presents the 
information that was considered as part of that budget setting process. 

Robustness of Estimates 

2. As in every year the budget is a series of estimates and these carry with them a certain 
amount of risk that actual spending will not be the same as the estimate. There are risks 
around significant major projects, pay awards, pension costs, inflation rates etc. as set out 
in the 2019/20 budget report. The estimates in that report were kept under review in the 
light of decisions agreed by the LFC, changes to budget forecasts and also updated 
information from 2018/19 budget monitoring. 

Reserves and General Balances 

3. Subject to the Assembly’s powers, the Mayor sets the overall level of funding available to 
each of the functional bodies. The functional bodies then determine how this funding is to 
be used through the balance of spending and internal funding – i.e. the LFC can choose to 
have lower or higher spending plans, with a lower or higher use of reserves. 

4. To meet the requirement of the Local Government Act 2003 in respect of the adequacy of 
reserves and to demonstrate compliance with the guidance on local authority reserves and 
balances issued by CIPFA, but mindful of the requirements in the Mayor’s Budget 
Guidance, the GLA and the functional bodies must provide: 

• A statement of policy on reserves and contingencies 

• Details of all reserves and general balances 

• An analysis and explanation of the expected movements between the start and 
end of each year from 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2023 

• In the case of earmarked reserves held for purposes beyond 31 March 2020, an 
indication should be given as to when they are likely to be applied. 

Statement of Reserve Policy 

5. CIPFA guidance to local authorities addresses the need for prudence in assessing the 
adequacy of reserves and recommends that chief finance officers (for LFC this is the 
Director of Corporate Services) take into account the strategic, operational and financial 
risks facing the LFC when setting the budget. The assessment should be made on the basis 
that core services will continue to operate in the event of unforeseen scenarios occurring 
and that there are adequate levels of reserves to meet these requirements. The guidance is 
non prescriptive in its approach as it expects each authority to form its own view on the 
adequacy of reserves. 

6. In terms of an allowance against contingencies, the previously assessed minimum of 3.5% 
of the net revenue expenditure requirement is a challenging but not untypical position for 

Page 57



Page 4 

an upper tier local authority, and it is considered that this is still a reasonable basis for 
forward planning. 

7. Whilst it is the case that a well managed authority with a prudent approach to budgeting 
should be able to operate with a relatively low level of reserves it is important to 
understand the quantum and likelihood of financial risks or threats in a given year. It is 
arguable that an FRA faces less financial volatility than a multi purpose local authority. 
However, it does face financial risks in a single year, for example, financial compensation 
claims for firefighters’ death in service or the impact of industrial action, as well as 
significant operational incidents. It should be noted that if a risk materialises that requires 
significant cover from reserves, the LFC would need to prudently seek to rebuild reserves 
back to an adequate level in future years. 

8. It is also important to bear in mind that reserves are not the only way in which the financial 
risks are managed. Insurance cover is in place for a wide range of eventualities. In terms of 
this cover there is an insurance excess, with the LFC meeting the first £0.85m on claims up 
to the aggregate of £1.9m. This means that the LFC is insured for the totality of any claims 
over and above this aggregate level in any one year – the maximum hit under the policy 
excess therefore being £1.9m. These levels are determined in discussion with the General 
Counsel’s Department and the aggregate figure of £1.9m represents a material 
improvement from the figure of £7.0m included for previous years under prior insurance 
arrangements. 

9. This insurance is supported by provisions that are raised in the statement of accounts each 
year for potential uninsured events where there is knowledge of a claim. There are specific 
amounts set aside where there is a present obligation as a result of a past event and a 
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The provisions that it is 
forecast LFC will have in place as at 31 March 2019 are set out in the table below: 

Summary of Provisions Expected at 31 March 2019 

 £k 

Legal 1,418 

Motor Insurance 1,678 

Property 327 

MMI 50 

Total 3,473 

 

10. The LFC, via the GLA, also has potential access to the Bellwin scheme in particular 
circumstances for emergency financial assistance. The scheme is named after the late Lord 
Bellwin, a minister in the former Department of the Environment who introduced the 
scheme in 1983. It was given a statutory basis in Section 155 of the Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989. The scheme may be activated in any case where an emergency or 
disaster involving destruction of or danger to life or property occurs and, as a result, one or 
more local authorities incur expenditure on, or in connection with, the taking of immediate 
action to safeguard life or property, or to prevent suffering or severe inconvenience, in 
their area or among its inhabitants. However it should be noted that there is no automatic 
entitlement to financial assistance: Ministers are empowered by Section 155 of the Local 

Page 58



Page 5 

Government and Housing Act 1989 to decide whether or not to activate a scheme after 
considering the circumstances of each individual case.  

11. The Bellwin scheme requires an expenditure threshold to be exceeded in order to trigger 
claims, and the threshold is set each year. For the latest Bellwin claim (Grenfell Tower) this 
was set at £0.75m for fire within the GLA Group. In addition, only a proportion of costs can 
be recovered, in particular these have to be marginal costs, and only costs in excess of the 
threshold will be reimbursed.  

12. There are however other schemes that the Government may provide in exceptional 
circumstances. For example the former Department for Communities and Local 
Government (DCLG) wrote on 19 August 2011 to Leaders of local authorities, and fire and 
rescue authorities, which were affected by the civil disturbances advising of a recovery 
package for communities, including new funding for local authorities and fire and rescue 
authorities which incurred additional costs because of the disturbances. The funding that 
was made available was at or below the Bellwin scheme threshold with funds nationally 
available of £10 million. LFC recovered £194k of funds through this scheme. 

13. The robustness of the current assessment of the adequacy of reserves is tested against the 
LFC’s established and audited risk management arrangements by carrying out an 
evaluation of the potential financial impact of each of the relevant corporate risks 
materialising and assessing this against the likelihood of this given the control measures 
that are in place. The current assessment of risk impact and likelihood once current controls 
have been applied highlights the areas where the financial consequences might be 
considered to be significant (if the risk materialised), and where these cannot be covered 
from existing provisions or insurance arrangements. A notable example is the cost of 
covering a significant business continuity event. Whilst the likelihood of this occurring is 
considered low given the application of our current controls, its impact would be 
significant. It is therefore important to ensure that adequate financial arrangements are in 
place to meet the expected costs, whilst bearing in mind that these costs can only be 
estimated. For example the cost of using the contract for emergency cover for a few 
months in the event of a significant business continuity event may require a substantial 
drawing from reserves. However as experience has shown the net cost would depend 
upon the nature of that event, the proportion of the workforce included within it and the 
resulting level of any offsetting cost savings.  

14. A summary of the current corporate risks that are assessed as having a potential financial 
impact, along with the estimate of that impact and examples of the types of events the risk 
covers, is set out in the table below. This shows both the estimated short term and long 
term financial impact. It also shows the estimated highest single drawing that might need to 
be made from reserves in both the short and long term. It should be noted that these can 
only be estimates based upon an informed judgement in the absence of any other detailed 
information.  

  

Page 59



Page 6 

Corporate Risks 

Corporate  Total  Highest Single Drawing 

Risk Level Type of risk Short Term Long Term Short Term Long Term 

High 
Capability to provide a 
specialist response. 

£6.9m £6.8m £5.0m £6.0m 

Medium 

Death or serious injury, 
failure of a significant 
contract, uncertainty on 
government approach to 
Home Office funding, 
Breakdown in industrial 
relations, ESN programme 
fails to deliver 

£18.7m £30.5m £5.0m £10.0m 

Low Pandemic outbreak  £0.1m £0.0m £0.1m £0.0m 

 

15. The focus of this review of the adequacy of reserves is on the short term only as reserves 
can only be used once and are not a permanent source of funding. The table shows that 
the total short term exposure, if all risks were to materialise in a single year, is £25.7m. 
However this needs to be considered against the probability of more than one significant 
risk materialising in any one year. The CIPFA guidance emphasises that a well managed 
authority will ensure that reserves are not only adequate but also necessary. It would not 
be appropriate to set funds aside to cover risks that are deemed extremely unlikely to 
occur. CIPFA also advises that a balance needs to be found between maintaining adequate 
levels of reserves and investing in risk reduction measures – for example it may be possible 
to reduce the level of balances held where appropriate action to mitigate or remove risks 
has been successfully taken. The table shows that £18.8m of the total short term exposure 
is assessed as low or medium with the remaining £6.9m as high risk. So while the total risk 
exposure is above the LFC’s currently assessed minimum level of reserves (£15.5m based 
upon the proposed 2019/20 budget), this needs to be considered against the probability of 
all these risk events occurring. The highest estimated single drawing in the short term is for 
£5.0m. 

Conclusion 

16. There are a range of factors that need to be taken into account in determining an 
appropriate level of reserves and as the CIPFA guidance states a considerable degree of 
professional judgement is required. For LFC the combination of a maximum insurance 
liability of £1.9m in any one year, the current availability of £3.5m in provisions to cover 
known or expected events, the availability of earmarked reserves, and a generally prudent 
approach to cost estimation and budgeting indicates that a general reserve level of 3.5% 
(£15.5) can currently be deemed to be adequate given the corporate governance and 
control arrangements in place across the organisation.   

Page 60



Page 7 

Details of Reserves 

17. The table below shows how total reserves would be made up if the reserve use set out in 
this report is agreed. These are discussed in turn.  

Movement on Reserves 

£000s 
Anticipated 
Balance at 
01/04/19 

Use of 
Reserves 

in 2019/20 

Use of 
Reserves 

in 2020/21 

Use of 
Reserves 

in 2021/22 

Use of 
Reserves 

in 2022/23 

Anticipated 
Balance at 
31/03/23 

Additional Resilience 
Requirements 

767 (767)       0 

Capital Expenditure Reserve 11,745 (11,745)       0 

Compensation 1,000 (250) (250) (250) (250) 0 
Emergency Services Mobile 
Communication Programme 

1,928 (203) (326) (1,399)   0 

Emergency Medical Response 294 (294)       0 
Fire Safety and Youth 
Engagement 

715 16 (624) (88) (19) 0 

HMICFRS inspection regime  21 (21)       0 

Hydrants 462 (95) (120) (120) (127) 0 

ICT Development Reserve 1,851 (960) (550) (241) (100) 0 

LFC Control Centre 959 (230)       729 

LFC Museum Project 210 (70) (70) (70)   0 

London Resilience 1,015 (1,015)       0 

London Safety Plan Initiatives 4,178 (1,423) (465) (26) 0 2,264 

Organisational Reviews 505 (505)       0 

Recruitment/ Outreach 370 (370)       0 

Sustainability 235 (235)       0 

Vehicle & Equipment Reserve 2,865 (2,106) (345) (221) (193) 0 

Budget Flexibility 23,110 (3,578) (18,141) (1,391)   0 

General 23,257         23,257 

Total 75,488 (23,851) (20,891) (3,806) (689) 26,251 

 

18. The general reserve provides working balances to help cushion the impact of uneven cash 
flows and a contingency to cushion the impact of unexpected events or emergencies. 
There are also a number of earmarked reserves. These contain funds that the LFC has 
agreed should be set aside for specific purposes. The table also shows how these reserves 
are moving over time.  The earmarked reserves are considered further in the following 
paragraphs. 

19. The additional resilience requirements reserve was approved in July 2017 (FEP2763). The 
reserve was set up to temporarily fund the initial revenue costs identified following the 
Grenfell Tower fire and the terrorist incidents at Westminster, London Bridge and Finsbury 
Park. Spend against this reserve is reviewed as part of the quarterly financial position 
reports. 

20. The compensation reserve was set up during the 2011/12 budget process (FEP1698). The 
aim of this reserve is to move financial risk out of the annual revenue budget. Previously the 
budget had contained a budgeted sum for compensation – which is unpredictable, and 
which will therefore often significantly under or over spend. This reserve will be used to 
fund compensation claims in excess of budgeted amounts. Its level has been kept under 
review for adequacy.  

Page 61



Page 8 

21. The emergency medical response reserve was established in the Financial Position as at the 
end of September 2017 report (FEP2792). This reserve is to fund an inoculation 
programme for staff if co-responding is rolled out across the Brigade and is forecast to be 
fully used in the 2018/19 and 2019/20 financial years. 

22. The Emergency Services Mobile Communications Programme (ESMCP) is a cross-
government, multi-agency programme that will deliver a new communication system to the 
emergency services and other public safety users throughout Great Britain. This system will 
be called the Emergency Services Network (ESN) and it will provide integrated critical voice 
and broadband data services. DCLG committed to provide grants to cover the reasonable 
cost of transition from the current Airwave service to ESN and it is expected the Home 
Office will provide similar guarantees. However, the full financial implications of 
implementation of the network are not yet known. It is proposed that this reserve is fully 
used by 2022/23. 

23. The Fire Safety and Youth Engagement reserve was established in 2016/17 (FEP2661) and 
is funded from the net contribution to overheads from the LFC’s trading company, LFB 
Enterprises and contributions received to fund youth engagement activities. The reserve is 
to be used to support fire safety and youth engagement activities. It is currently forecast 
that the current balance on this reserve will be utilised by 2022/23. 

24. The HMICFRS (Her Majesty's Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire & Rescue Services) 
Inspection Regime reserve was established as part of the review of the 2017/18 outturn 
(LFC-0031). The reserve will fund the establishment of a project team for 12 months to 
facilitate the inspection regime. This project team will support the wider work of Scrutiny 
and Inspection as set out in the Growth bid reference 15. 

25. The Hydrants reserve (FEP1698) was set up during the 2011/12 budget process to deal 
with payments for water companies catching up with a backlog of repairs that had built up 
over a number of years. The remaining balance on the reserve will now be used on invest 
to save projects to help support further efficiency improvements within the hydrants team. 

26. The ICT development reserve holds funds to accommodate changes to HR, Finance and 
Fire Safety systems and the NOG implementation budget. It is currently expected that this 
reserve will be fully used over the next four financial years. 

27. The LFC control centre reserve has been set up in this report to fund any one-off shortfall in 
funding for the LFC Control Centre at Merton, after government funding expires. It will 
also support the one year cost of increasing the control rota as discussed in this report. 

28. The London Resilience reserve was established to manage the costs of the implementation 
of new London Resilience workstreams between financial years. These workstreams are 
now well established and the remaining balance will be used to fund costs related to the 
Command Unit project and specialist operational equipment. 

29. The LFB Museum Project reserve was created as part of the Financial Position as at the end 
of September 2018 report (LFC-0084). This reserve will fund a Museum project manager 
for a  period of three years to support that work. 

Page 62



Page 9 

30. Under the new London Safety Plan a number of trials and pilots could be carried out in 
future financial years. LFC currently holds an earmarked reserve of £4.2m to aid in the 
implementation of any new operational delivery models.  

31. The recruitment/outreach reserve was created in the January 2017 Budget Update report 
(FEP2685) to fund the proposed establishment of the firefighter recruitment and outreach 
team for a period of two years (£550k), and the development of new advertising campaign 
materials arising from the recent firefighter recruitment market research exercise in 
2017/18 (£50k). It is forecast that this reserve will be fully used by the end of the 2019/20 
financial year and then closed. 

32. The sustainability reserve was set up to deliver the LFC’s programme of investment in 
enhanced energy efficiency and renewable technologies, the spend is expected to be 
completed in 2019/20. 

33. The vehicle and equipment reserve includes funding of £2.0m for the ultra low emission 
fleet programme, £670k for alterations to vehicles to comply with the Ultra Low Emission 
Zone (FEP2687) and £60k to retrofit some LFB non-frontline vehicles with hybrid 
diesel/hydrogen alternatives to further reduce the environmental impact of the LFB fleet 
(FEP2661). It is expected that this reserve will be fully used by the end of 2022/23. 

34. The Organisational Reviews reserves was created as part of the Role to Rank programme as 
part of the review of the 2017/18 outturn position (LFC-0031) to meet the costs of that 
review. This reserve was previously called the watch structure review reserve. This reserve 
is expected to be fully used in 2019/20 after which it will be closed. This reserves also 
includes funding of £50k for a review of Training. 

35. The Budget Flexibility Reserve was set up in response to the Mayor’s 2017/18 Budget 
consultation letter that requires the temporary boost to LFC’s balances to be held to assist 
balancing future year’s budgets, and is funded from budgeted savings in 2017/18 of £6.2m 
followed by an additional transfer in that year of £12.5m identified during that year. The 
reserve will also be supplemented by a further £4.4m in 2018/19 from further savings. This 
will be used to support the budget position over the current planning period to 2022/23. 
An additional transfer into this reserve will be considered as part of the review of the 
2018/19 outturn position. 

 

 

 

Page 63



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 64



Medium Term Financial 
Plan  

25 April 2019 

Appendix 3

Page 65



  

Page 1 

Contents 

Medium Term Financial Plan ................................................................................................... 1 

Introduction ........................................................................................................................... 2 

Four Year Plan ........................................................................................................................ 2 

 

Page 66



  

Page 2 

Introduction 

1 The Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) represents a key part of the London Fire 
Commissioner’s decision making process in financial planning for the future. The MTFP brings 
together all the known factors affecting an organisation’s financial position and its financial 
sustainability into one place. The information that is set out in this report supported the approval 
of the 2019/20 LFC budget and will inform the budget process for future years. 

Four Year Plan 

2 The MTFP covers a four year period from 2019/20 to 2022/23 and is included at Appendix 1. 
Table 1 below sets out a summary of the forecast budget position in each of those four years, 
reflecting the changes set out in the MTFP. The table shows that the LFC is anticipating that there 
will be a budget shortfall of £18m by 2021/22. 

1. Table 1: Four Year Budget Forecast 

 

2019/20 
Budget 

£000s 

2020/21 
Budget 

£000s 

2021/22 
Budget 

£000s 

2022/23 
Budget 

£000s 

Operational Staff 270,179 273,741 279,267 284,959 

Other Staff 59,886 58,339 58,878 59,561 

Employee Related 20,383 19,895 20,717 21,209 

Firefighter's Pensions 22,058 22,303 22,552 22,552 

Premises 51,441 38,699 40,186 41,138 

Transport 18,924 16,963 17,499 17,846 

Supplies and Services 31,128 29,556 30,646 29,597 

Third Party Payments 1,817 1,817 1,817 1,817 

Capital Financing Costs 9,775 11,292 12,353 12,353 

Central Contingency  (313) (313) (313) (313) 

Savings to be achieved 0 0 (17,820) (18,014) 

Total Revenue Expenditure 485,279 472,291 465,782 472,706 

Income (38,012) (39,653) (41,689) (42,883) 

Net Revenue Expenditure 447,267 432,639 424,093 429,823 

Use of Earmarked Reserves (23,849) (20,888) (3,805) (689) 

Financing Requirement 423,418 411,751 420,288 429,134 

Specific Grants 31,113 12,492 12,492 12,492 

GLA Funding 392,305 399,259 407,796 416,642 

 

3 The MTFP includes a range of financial items, including the impact of inflation, staff pay awards, 
growth and saving proposals, decisions made by the LFC, and unavoidable items such and legal 
or regulatory changes. The largest of these include a £25m pressure as a result of the outcome of 

Page 67



  

Page 3 

the revaluation of the Firefighter Pension Schemes, £26m for inflation and staff pay awards and 
additional ongoing funding from the GLA by the end of the period of £30m. 

4 The assumptions and forecasts set out in this report are under continual review and will be 
refreshed to fully support the budget process for 2020/21.  

Page 68



  

Page 4 

  Description 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 Comments 

    £k £k £k £k   

              

  Previous Years Net Expenditure 401,087 447,267 432,639 424,093   

              

1 Central Contingency for Inflation 4,299 7,286 7,391 7,449 This includes both staff and non staff 
inflation. Staff costs are based on pay 
awards of 2% annually for all staff.    

              

 Other Budget Pressures      

       

  STAFF BUDGETS           

2 Pensions Auto Enrolment 802 267 0 0 These are potential additional employers 
pensions contributions from staff entering 
the pension schemes, as part of the 
governments auto enrolment scheme. This 
assumes that 40% of staff enrolled into the 
scheme stay in the scheme.  

3 Firefighter Pension Scheme - Change 
to Discount Rate 

25,278 0 0 0 In his March 2016 Budget Announcement 
the Chancellor stated that unfunded public 
sector employer pension contributions will 
increase from 2019 by an estimated £2bn 
per annum. This was as a result of the 
regular revaluation of the scheme. LFC 
previously forecast an additional pressure of 
£5.1m based on the change to discount 
rate, £2.8m following a reduction in 
contributions and £0.9m for the impact of 
funding retained fire fighter schemes. The 
total pressure has now been revised to a 
£25.3m impact. The 2019/20 impact is 
offset by additional one-off grant of £21.7m 
for the LFC, for a net impact of £3.6m  

4 Changes to Staff on Development 
Rates of Pay 

(2,594) (549) 1,376 1,200 This reduction reflects the anticipated 
change in the profile of the operational 
workforce, which will shift to include more 
less experienced staff on lower pay rates, 
following increased recruitment levels.  

5 Local Government Pensions Scheme - 
Early Retirement Costs 

(110) (30) (30) (30) This movement reflects ongoing reductions 
in the number of pensioners receiving these 
payments.  

6 Local Government Pensions Scheme - 
Past Service Deficit 

215 224 0 0 This is the forecast ‘inflationary’ increase in 
the cost of the past service deficit payments 
on the Local Government Pension Scheme.  

7 Local Government Pensions Scheme - 
2017 Valuation 

(115) (122) 0 0 Savings following the valuation on the LFC’s 
LGPS pension fund.  

8 Firefighters' Injury Pensions 279 245 250 0 This relates to inflation increases on injury 
pensions and assumptions around numbers 
in receipt of injury pensions.  

9 Firefighter Pension Sanction Charge 45 0 0 0 This increase reflects current forecast for 
numbers of staff choosing to commute their 
pension above the HMRC tax limit.  

10 Operational Staff Vacancy Margin 3,724 0 0 0 This pressure is as a result of the removal of 
the one-off increase to the Vacancy Margin 
in 2018/19. This reflects that staff numbers 
are now expected to return to established 
levels from 2019/20.  

11 FRS Vacancy Margin (1,000) 1,000 0 0 This reflects a temporary increase to the 
vacancy margin for FRS staff in 2019/20 in 
light of ongoing vacancy levels. These are 
expected to reduce but could still result in 
an additional underspend at the start of the 
financial year.  

Page 69



  

Page 5 

  Description 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 Comments 

    £k £k £k £k   

12 Operational Pension Scheme Changes (1,147) (373) (318) (290) This saving is achievable based on forecast 
numbers of staff in the current schemes, 
and the reduced costs as staff leave the 
older schemes and recruits join the new 
scheme. It also includes a forecast of 30 
staff opting out of the scheme per year, 
based on current trends.  

13 Role to Rank Project 88 89 0 0 The proposed investment will incur 
increased staff costs of no more than £609k 
per annum, alongside savings of at least 
£432k per annum for the LFB by the 
2020/21 financial year. Critical performance 
improvements will also be delivered, 
including on-station officer-led training; and 
greater productivity from a significant 
reduction in standby movements for 
officers. It will also consensually resolve a 
long-running dispute, and its associated 
risks, with the trade union since the 2010 
industrial action.  

14 Trainee Firefighter Recruitment 168 (443) (281) (63) These costs reflect the anticipated salary 
cost of trainee firefighters in each year.  

15 Additional Resilience Requirements 1,188 (364) 229 0 Additional items included in FEP2673  
16 Increase in Cadet Units to all London 

Boroughs 
1,050 (1,050) 0 0 The Mayor has awarded LFC an extra £1.1m 

of funding for fire cadets to open 15 new 
units over the next 2 financial years. This 
will be funded as one off uplifts to the 
business rates allocation.  

              

  STAFF RELATED BUDGETS           

17 Apprenticeship Levy (890) (225) 0 0 An apprenticeship levy came into effect in 
April 2017, at a rate of 0.5% of an 
employer’s pay bill. This levy has been 
transferred into a digital account ant this 
saving reflects the use of the levy from 
2019/20.  

18 Additional Payments into the Local 
Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) 
Fund and resulting on-going savings 

115 (1,481) 0 0 In light of the impact of the actuarial 
revaluation of the LGPS, it is proposed that 
the new savings generated are re-invested 
back into the scheme in order to reduce the 
deficit further. These payments would then 
result in additional savings following the 
outcome of the next revaluation in 2020/21. 
If the savings are used in this way they 
would result in a £3.1m additional payment 
against the deficit by 2019/20, with a 
forecast saving of £350k in 2020/21.  

19 Training Contract (1,423) (297) 245 (46) As stated in the Future Options for Training 
report (FEP1829X) the fixed fee element of 
the Training Contract will reduce after the 
first six years of the contract.  

              

  PREMISES BUDGETS           

20 Business Rates (277) 91 170 170 The forecast budget movement have been 
amended based on data received from 
Estates Management Consultant in 
December 2018.  

21 Energy Costs 237 68 70 71 The budget requirement for 2019/20 has 
been reviewed following changes to 
electricity contracts, to half hourly billing, 
that had led to an overspend in 2017/18. 
These forecasts also take into account the 
reduction in cost following the disposal of 
Southwark Training Centre.  

Page 70



  

Page 6 

  Description 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 Comments 

    £k £k £k £k   

22 New Technical Logistics Centre (129) (100) 0 0 The figures shown are based on the rates, 
rents and other running costs required to 
run the two logistics centres while the new 
Technical Logistics Centre is set up. The 
increase in the on-going cost is largely due 
to higher rent for the new centre. This cost 
is considered to be reasonable by the 
Authority’s agents bearing in mind current 
market conditions and the type of lease 
agreed.  

23 Property PFI Unitary Payment 50 50 50 50 The figures shown here reflect the 
payments required for the Property PFI fire 
stations. From 2017/18 an annual price 
review is applicable to the variable element 
of Unitary Charge based on RPIx. The 
standard RPIx has been applied to this value 
from 2017/18.   

24 Building Maintenance  1,354 0 0 0 Increased cost of new building maintenance 
contracts for MEP (mechanical, electrical, 
plumbing) and Fabric Services. 
A report seeking approval of this new 
contract is scheduled to be reviewed by 
Commissioners Board during July 2018.    

25 New Premises contracts (hard and 
soft FM services)  

387 149 158 0 The Property Services Review Report 
FEP2430 (item 39) identified the potential 
for a significant increase in costs for the 
provision of all works/services when 
tendering for new contracts. These 
increases are in addition to the 'inflationary 
pressures' submitted for Premises budgets.  

26 Rental Increases 21 120 0 0 Increase in rental costs for premises 
following rent reviews.  

27 LFB Training Centre Croydon 0 0 50 550 The report on the Third Training Centre 
(FEP 2646) for the project now renamed 
"LFB Training Centre Croydon" states that 
there would be an ongoing revenue 
pressure of £0.6m in running costs and 
£0.2m in lost income. The financial impact 
of the running costs, set out here, is based 
on occupation by October 2019.  

28 Lease for an increase in parking 
spaces 

37 0 0 0 This reflects the cost to execute a new lease 
agreement for car parking for Union Street 
staff (LFC-0044D).  

              

  TRANSPORT BUDGETS           

29 EFCC contract First Aid Recertification 
training 

(126) 0 0 0 As is outlined in FEP 2321, the EFCC 
contract attracts an additional charge in 
Years 1 and 4 for first aid recertification. 
Year 4 of the contract spans parts of FY 
2017/18 and FY 2018/19, hence the total 
(unindexed) charge £126k has been 
allocated across these two periods.  

30 Command Unit Replacement 0 180 0 0 This budget is for an increase in the slot 
price following the replacement of 
command units.  

31 Lease Car Charges 46 8 8 0 Increase in cost of subsidy for lease cars 
based on indexation and an increase in the 
number of cars in use through the scheme.  

              

  SUPPLIES AND SERVICES 
BUDGETS 

          

Page 71



  

Page 7 

  Description 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 Comments 

    £k £k £k £k   

32 ICT Equipment Replacement Holiday (278) 0 0 0 Moving to Union Street allowed a move 
from a rolling programme of replacements 
to a more defined cycle as the equipment 
has a defined life. This represents the 
periodic re-instatement of that budget to 
update the equipment at Union Street, This 
would include wireless access points, 
physical servers and some desktop 
equipment.  

33 Portable Hygiene Units (PHUs) 72 0 0 0 This budget is to support to on-going 
maintenance and call out charges relating to 
the purchase of two new PHUs built to LFB 
specification, hosted with a third-party 
supplier.  

34 Business Intelligence platform 231 0 0 0 The Resources Committee agreed capital 
funding for this project in March 2016 (FEP 
2578. There are associated revenue cost to 
cover the licensing of the products to be 
deployed. To achieve maximum benefit it is 
likely that the licensing will need to enable 
full interaction with the product which is 
licensed on an individual basis. The figures 
included here represent the middle ground 
in terms of deployment options. Discussions 
are underway with Microsoft regarding an 
adaptation of the licensing model to reflect 
the watch based nature of LFB. This does 
not yet take into account any savings that 
may be realised from this project, which 
could help offset this additional cost. The 
overall position will be kept under review.   

35 e-Recruitment 20 0 0 0 This is to fund the additional cost of the 
replacement e-Recruitment system (support 
for the previous system has been 
withdrawn). The current budget for the 
existing solution is £24,500 whereas the 
annual support fees for the new solution is 
£44,006.25, a shortfall of £19,506.25pa.  

36 CFOA Subscription 16 0 0 0 The National Fire Chiefs Council have 
agreed a new banding arrangement for 
payments. The impact of this is anticipated 
to increase LFC’s contribution to an annual 
payment of £65k.  

37 Health and safety System 36 0 0 0 This is to extend reporting facilities for the 
new hosted system  to all users. The current 
budget for the existing solution is £12,135 
whereas the annual support fees for the 
new solution is £48,560, a shortfall of 
£36,425pa.  

38 Airwave Contract 49 51 54 56 This reflects ongoing inflation on the 
Airwave Contract.  

Page 72



  

Page 8 

  Description 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 Comments 

    £k £k £k £k   

39 MDT Support following removal of 
Airwave support 

23 23 0 0 Whilst the removal of this service from the 
Airwave was anticipated it was envisaged 
that this would result in a cost saving against 
the contract which could be re purposed to 
support the new MDTs. However, the re 
negotiated Airwave contract has increased 
overall costs whilst removing this element of 
the service - this increase has been included 
in the inflationary pressures return. As a 
consequence there is now an additional 
requirement for the ongoing support of the 
new devices deployed to the fleet which 
has been estimated based on the failure rate 
of the existing MDTs flexed to reflect the 
changes in the nature of their use and the 
expansion of the provision to include tablet 
devices and satnavs. The first year provision 
has been reduced due to part year 
implementation. The increase over time 
reflects the increase anticipated to reflect 
the failures due to age and use of the 
equipment.  

40 Extension and Re-procurement of the 
Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) 
Contract (FEP2381) 

370 0 0 0 By extending the current contract with 
Bristol Uniforms by an additional two years 
from October 2016, the Authority 
generated one-off savings of £640k in 
2017/18 and £370k in 2018/19. The 
adjustment shown reduces the saving in 
2018/19 and removes it from the budget in 
2019/20.  

41 Replacement of Extended Duration 
Breathing Apparatus (EDBA) 
cylinders 

(4) 26 0 0 This is the reversal of one off spend in 
2017/18 on the progressive replacement of 
EDBA cylinders as they reach the end of 
their maximum design life, to maintain the 
authorities operational capacity.   

42 National Operational Guidance (NOG) 
Integration 

(56) 0 0 0 This is the reversal of one off funding of 
£0.9m in 2017/18, for the implementation 
of the NOG project for the Authority  The 
majority of the budget is removed in 
2018/19, with the balance in 2019/20.   

              

  CAPITAL FINANCING BUDGETS           

43 Borrowing Costs 5 1,517 1,061 0 This estimate is based on the borrowing 
costs required for the current capital 
programme. It is subject to review, both in 
respect of the forecast level of capital 
receipts and the actual expenditure 
requirements as individual projects are 
progressed.    

  Total other budget pressures 27,756 (927) 3,091 1,668   

              

  INCOME BUDGETS           

44 Insurance Company Income (970) (1,020) (1,070) (1,120) These increases assume growth of 3.5% per 
annum going forward. This is in addition to 
savings that were agreed as part of the 
2017/18 budget setting process.  

45 Reduction in PEG income 25 0 0 0 Reduction in breathing apparatus 
maintenance income due to loss of custom.  

46 FBU Secondments 60 0 0 0 4 posts are currently seconded to the FBU, 
with 2 funded by LFB and 2 by the FBU. 
This has changed in recent years and the 
income received reduced also.  

Page 73



  

Page 9 

  Description 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 Comments 

    £k £k £k £k   

47 LFB Company 170 0 0 0 The LFC owned company LFBe is entering a 
dormant phase in order that it can be 
preserved for possible future use as a 
trading entity or for other activities in the 
future as required. The LFC currently has an 
income budget of £170k for recharges of 
staff time to LFBe. That budget will be 
removed from 2019/20.  

48 Interest Receivable 80 0 0 0 This forecast is based on the interest rates 
received on our cash deposits and reflects a 
reduction in our forecast cash balances and 
thus the interest earned.  

49 Reduction in rental income at HQ 162 0 0 0 There is a proposal for the accommodation 
at Union Street that has recently been 
vacated by London Travel Watch not to be 
re-let but re-occupied by LFB staff to enable 
the Hackitt Review team to be located 
within Union Street. It is unclear if HCLG 
would provide any funds to cover 
accommodation costs for this team.  

50 Reduction in Shut in Lift charging 110 10 10 10 This adjustment reflects observed 
decreases in income and as the aim of this 
charge, to reduce demand, is realised.   

  Total income (363) (1,010) (1,060) (1,110)   

              

  Total Unavoidable Pressures and 
Savings identified 

31,692 5,350 9,422 8,007   

              

51 Change in Expenditure funded from 
Specific Grants and Reserves 

14,064 (17,525) (332) (1,726)   

              

  Revised Net Revenue Expenditure 446,843 435,092 441,729 430,375   

              

52 Growth Agreed in Previous Years (115) 0 0 0 Proposals included in 2017/18 Budget 
report (FEP2708) and 2018/19 Budget 
Report (FEP2825)  

53 2019/20 Savings Proposals (1,386) (2,172) 184 (358)   
54 2019/20 Growth Proposals 1,925 (281) 0 0   

55 Budget Surplus/ (Deficit) 0 0 (17,820) (195)   

              

  Proposed Net Revenue 
Expenditure 

447,267 432,639 424,093 429,823   

              
  Use of Budget Flexibility Reserve (3,578) (18,141) (1,391) 0   

  Use of Earmarked Reserves (20,272) (2,747) (2,415) (689)   

              

  Financing Requirement 423,417 411,751 420,288 429,134   

              

  Specific Grants 31,113 12,492 12,492 12,492   

              

  Financing Requirement after use 
of Specific Grants 

392,305 399,259 407,796 416,642   

 

 

Page 74



 

                                                                    

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Fire, Resilience and Emergency 
Planning Committee Work Programme 

 

Report to: Fire, Resilience and Emergency Planning Committee 
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 23 May 2019 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  

 

1.1 This report sets out proposals for the Fire, Resilience and Emergency Planning Committee work 

programme.  

 

 

2. Recommendations 
 

2.1 The Committee is recommended to note the Fire, Resilience and Emergency Planning 

Committee work programme.  

 

 

3. Background  
 
3.1 The Committee’s work programme is intended to enable the Committee to effectively fulfil its role in 

holding the Mayor and office of the London Fire Commissioner (LFC) to account, and investigating 

issues of importance to fire and resilience in London. The Committee’s work involves a range of 

activities, including formal meetings with the Deputy Mayor for Fire and Resilience (DMFR) and the 

office of the LFC and other stakeholders, site visits, written consultations and round table meetings.  

 

3.2 The Committee receives a report monitoring the progress of its work programme at each meeting.  

 

 

4. Issues for Consideration  

 

4.1 The Committee’s work programme has been designed to proactively examine issues of interest, but 

also allows for flexibility to respond to topical issues, and for the Committee to react to the LFC’s 

work programme.  

 

 

 

 

Page 75

Agenda Item 10



        

4.2 The schedule of meetings in the remainder of the 2019/20 Assembly year is:   

 Thursday 18 July 2019 

 Thursday 26 September 2019 

 Wednesday 20 November 2019 

 Thursday 30 January 2020 

 Thursday 5 March 2020 

 

4.3 The Committee will also undertake site visits and hold briefings to inform Members about relevant 

issues and complement its scrutiny work. The Committee is recommended to delegate authority to 

the Chair, in consultation with the Deputy Chair, arrangements for any site visits, informal meetings 

and engagement activities before the Committee’s next formal meeting.  

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 
 
6. Financial Implications 

 

6.1 There are no financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:  None 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers:  None 

 

Contact Officer: Janette Roker, Senior Policy Adviser  

Telephone: 020 7983 6562 

E-mail: Janette.roker@london.gov.uk  

 

Page 76

mailto:Janette.roker@london.gov.uk

	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interests
	6 Minutes
	Draft minutes - Transcript - Appendix 1 - Fire, Resilience and Emergency Planning Committee 280319

	7 Summary List of Actions
	43a Richard Mills action 28032019pdf

	8 London Safety Plan
	9 Reserves Strategy and Medium Term Financial Plan for the London Fire Commissioner
	Appendix 1 Letter to the Chair
	Appendix 2 - Reserves Strategy - Final
	Appendix 3 Medium Term Financial Plan - Final

	10 Fire, Resilience and Emergency Planning Committee Work Programme



